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1                 P R O C E E D I N G S

2           MR. SMITH:  My name is Christopher Smith, and

3 I am the designated federal official for the BP

4 Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill and Offshore Commission.

5            This meeting is being held in accordance

6 with the Federal Advisory Committee Act which calls for

7 a very high level of transparency and openness, so as

8 such we're holding this public deliberation in this

9 public forum and it's being fed live via webcast.

10            I'll go over the agenda for this afternoon.

11 We're going to be hearing deliberation on two of the

12 subcommittees which are handling portions of the report

13 for the committee.  The first will be the Offshore

14 Drilling Subcommittee, and we'll be deliberating on the

15 report on potential findings regarding the offshore

16 drilling.  This will be from 1:15 to 2:30.

17            After a short break we will reconvene at

18 2:45, and we'll be hearing deliberations on Regulatory

19 Oversight Subcommittee, our report on potential

20 findings regarding the regulation of offshore oil

21 drilling.

22            After a short break from 4:00 to 4:15 there
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1 will be a public comment period from 4:15 to 4:45.  So

2 during that time we will be hearing comments from the

3 public, and if any individual should desire to send in

4 a written comment, the Commission receives written

5 comments at the website which is

6 www.oilspillcommission.gov.  Again, it's

7 www.oilspillcommission.gov, and with that I'll hand it

8 over to our Co-Chair Honorable William Reilly.

9           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Thank you, Chris.  Welcome

10 to this session of the Oil Spill Commission.  I should

11 say that as we have these episodic public

12 conversations, it sometimes may not be apparent how

13 much has gone on behind the scenes, how many interviews

14 we have conducted and how much research has been done

15 to prepare for them, but I will begin by turning this

16 over to Senator Graham, Co-Chairman, and then take it

17 back to me.  Bob.

18           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Thank you, Mr. Reilly.

19 This Commission stemmed from the tragic Deepwater

20 Horizon explosion and oil spill April 20th of this

21 year.  It was formed as a nonpartisan independent group

22 to examine the relevant facts and circumstances

6

1 concerning the multiple causes of the Deepwater Horizon

2 explosion and to develop options to guard against

3 potential offshore oil spills in the future.

4            We should not forget that this tragic

5 accident took the lives of 11 men.  The Gulf was

6 flooded with gushing oil for almost three months.  The

7 economy of the entire region was badly impacted once

8 again just five years after the destruction of

9 Hurricane Katrina.

10            The work of this Commission has now arrived

11 at its halfway point.  We began with our first public

12 hearing in New Orleans on July 12th.  Before that

13 meeting ever began my fellow commissioners and I fanned

14 out on trips throughout the Gulf states meeting with a

15 variety of people in the region listening to the

16 stories of how this catastrophe affected them and their

17 families and their communities.

18            After that our investigators and our

19 hearings explored topics that included how we regulate

20 and oversee offshore drilling.  How can we improve the

21 culture of drilling industry and look at the

22 effectiveness of the response and how best to restore

7

1 the damaged ecosystem.

2            All in all we've held a total of five days

3 of public meetings with over 70 panels.  We've heard

4 from federal, state and local officials, business and

5 environmental leaders, scientists, energy experts,

6 historians and citizens from the Gulf and listened to

7 comments both inside and outside the hearing from

8 scores and scores of citizens.

9            Today's deliberative meeting is the first

10 opportunity for the commissioners to have had to sit

11 down together as a group and discuss our possible

12 findings.  Today we take an important step towards

13 developing these important recommendations which will

14 be the core of our final report.  I'm especially glad

15 that this meeting is taking place in a way that allows

16 the public to view our discussions.  We are doing this

17 in an open forum, consistent with our commitment to

18 transparency, a commitment which has guided us from the

19 beginning.

20            Today's meeting, like all our public

21 meetings, will have a portion devoted to public

22 comments.  If you cannot make it in person, we can also

8

1 give your comments thought through our website,

2 oilspillcommission.gov., oilspillcommission.gov.

3 We have received hundreds of messages and many

4 excellent suggestions and ideas through this source.

5            Chairman Reilly will now go over where we go

6 from here.

7           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Thank you, Bob.  As Senator

8 Graham just said, we are subject to law, the Federal

9 Advisory Committee Act, which has not permitted us thus

10 far to meet as a group of seven without full public

11 conversation which we will undertake today.  So this is

12 really the first time the commissioners have actually

13 come together to discuss among all seven the

14 preliminary findings that you will certainly hear

15 described.

16            A lot of work has been done to date thanks

17 to the good efforts of commissioners and the staff, and

18 today we begin our very important discussions about

19 what our final report should say and what we should

20 recommend.

21            On the agenda is a set of candidate findings

22 from the Commission's Offshore Drilling Subcommittee
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1 and also from the Regulatory Oversight Subcommittee.

2            By way of background, our subcommittees

3 provide the organizing structure for the Commission's

4 work.  They help set our agenda, identify panelists for

5 our meetings, oversee staff research efforts and most,

6 most importantly develop the set of candidate findings

7 and recommendations for consideration by the full

8 Commission.

9            We have a total of six subcommittees.

10 Besides those we're considering today they include ones

11 on the Macondo well disaster on responding to oil

12 spills, on damages from the incident and on

13 restoration.

14            The Offshore Drilling and Regulatory

15 Oversight Committees played a strong role in shaping

16 our August 25th hearing where we heard from experts on

17 offshore drilling and industry safety as well as from

18 current and past government officials, notably three

19 former directors of the Minerals and Management

20 Service.  Much of what we heard in those meetings is

21 reflected in the findings that we will be discussing

22 shortly.

10

1            I have my own thoughts about how well we as

2 a country and our government's regulators have overseen

3 this complex, even occasionally dangerous yet vitally

4 important activity, namely, offshore drilling in deep

5 waters, and I look forward to hearing my fellow

6 commissioners' views.  I expect along the way we will

7 readily find some areas of consensus, many areas of

8 general agreement and perhaps even a few areas about

9 which we don't yet have full agreement.

10            These first discussions are intended to help

11 clarify where we are as a commission and what we need

12 to do to bring closure to the President's assignment.

13            As for the road ahead, our chief counsel,

14 Fred Bartlett, will present the findings of the

15 Commission's investigative team on November 8th and

16 9th.  This will I believe be the clearest and most

17 comprehensive account yet offered to the American

18 people of what happened on the Deepwater Horizon.

19            After that we plan at least one more set of

20 hearings in early December where we will close on the

21 Commission's findings and recommendations.  We will

22 then present our first final report to the President in

11

1 early January, just a little under three months from

2 today.  Having been involved in many reports in my

3 career, I can honestly say this time table, six months

4 from our initial hearing to the end, has presented a

5 daunting challenge to finish our work, to gather the

6 facts, to stay on schedule, and it's a really great

7 credit to the fine staff and to a number of other

8 people associated with us who have appeared before us

9 and talked to us either in these public meetings or in

10 meetings in private that we have come so far so fast.

11            We expect to deliver our report to the

12 President on time and with solid content to advise him

13 on the future of offshore drilling in the United States

14 waters.  Now we begin a very important step toward that

15 finish line.

16            I will turn it over now to begin the

17 discussion of the findings, the potential general

18 findings of the Subcommittee on Offshore Drilling.  The

19 three members of that committee are Senator Graham,

20 Dean Cherry Murray and Chancellor Fran Ulmer, and

21 Senator Graham will lead off with finding number one.

22           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Thank you, Bill.  We have

12

1 divided the 11 recommendations of this subcommittee

2 into three groups.  I will lead the discussion of the

3 first group which is recommendations 1 through 4, Dean

4 Murray the second group 7 through 8, and Chancellor

5 Ulmer the final group 9 through 11.  I would suggest

6 that we roughly allocate 25 minutes to each of these

7 three subject matters.  So, Chris, if you would keep

8 your always attentive clock running on this.

9            Group A talks about issues of the importance

10 of offshore drilling to our nation.  I will start by

11 saying it seems to me that the kinds of questions that

12 are raised under the category group A, 1 through 4,

13 require a context to be effectively addressed, and the

14 context is what is our national energy policy and how

15 does this set of recommendations as to the subset of

16 our offshore energy policy relate to that?  I don't

17 think that and it would be feasible and certainly

18 beyond our charter for us to try to describe what that

19 national energy policy should be, but I think we could

20 make a contribution if we were to suggest what some of

21 the important elements of that national energy policy

22 should be.
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1            So I guess the first question is:  Do we

2 believe that we can focus exclusively on issues

3 relating to offshore oil or do we need to have some

4 context of a broader energy policy within which to have

5 the offshore oil discussion?

6            So I open it for comments to the

7 commissioners.

8           MS. BEINECKE:  Senator, I'll agree with that.

9 I think that the offshore program has operated over

10 many decades not in a context of a national energy

11 plan.  Virtually I think every president has called for

12 a national energy plan but it still hasn't happened,

13 and I think all of us might have a different view about

14 what that consists of, but I do think it's very

15 important for the report to put offshore oil in the

16 context of not only what our current energy needs are

17 but where they are expected to go and how they can

18 change.

19            Oil goes largely into the transportation

20 sector.  There are a lot of initiatives in

21 transportation:  Electric cars, more efficient

22 vehicles, public transportation.  Putting it in the

14

1 context of those other approaches to transportation I

2 think would be very important for the report.

3           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Let me ask -- excuse me.

4 Let me ask a question.  The recommendations, are they

5 being presented to our audience that is viewing this?

6 Bill suggested that I should read the four

7 recommendations that we are considering --

8           MS. BEINECKE:  That's a good idea.

9           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  -- so that those that don't

10 have access to it in hard copy.

11           MS. ULMER:  Mr. Chairman, can I just note

12 that there's a difference between the findings and

13 recommendations.  It's a minor point, but it may turn

14 out to be a major point, and these are really findings

15 that come out of the various hearings.  So for the

16 listening or viewing audience I think we aren't to the

17 recommendation phase yet.  This is more or less what we

18 have evolved from statements that we have heard and

19 testimony and research that has been done.  So I just

20 want to --

21           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  And we're fortunate to have

22 a strong disciplined academic administrator on the path

15

1 and with the right nomenclature, but we are discussing

2 potential general findings, and the four findings that

3 relate to this topic commence.

4            (1) The nation is currently and will be in

5 the foreseeable future highly dependent on offshore

6 drilling in the outer continental shelf, including in

7 deep waters.

8            (2) The oil and gas industry developed

9 highly innovative and advanced technologies to explore

10 oil and gas reserves increasingly deeper and further

11 offshore.

12            (3) Offshore production has helped offset

13 declines in production elsewhere in the US, moderated

14 dependence on foreign imports, thereby contributing to

15 national security and reduction of the trade deficit.

16            (4) Offshore oil production is part of a

17 broader picture that includes strategies for managing

18 demand, the role of alternative fuels, and the

19 availability of domestic reserves for future

20 generations.

21            Do you believe that that number 4 adequately

22 captures the concept of doing this within the context

16

1 of making our findings relative to offshore oil within

2 a broader context?  Miss Ulmer.

3           MS. ULMER:  Mr. Chairman, I would almost

4 recommend reversing the order of the findings, that

5 number 4 should really be number 1, because you sort of

6 go from the general more to the specific.  That helps

7 to set the context.  I suspect that in the report

8 itself a little more of what Frances was talking about

9 could go into that first point about how this fits

10 together as a whole with other sources of energy, with

11 other strategies for increasing efficiency and for

12 getting to a future which is not just what are we doing

13 today or next year but what are we doing 10 or 20 years

14 out and how this, and then you get to the more specific

15 of how offshore production has helped to offset, and

16 then you get to, yes, they have developed new

17 technologies which has been helpful, but then you get

18 to group B where it says, you know, the technology

19 isn't the only piece of the puzzle to be safe and some

20 of the other technologies which hasn't advanced needs

21 to.

22            So I think it's a re-ordering that helps to
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1 achieve some of what you were talking about in terms of

2 this bigger picture that, yes, we aren't responsible

3 for devising an energy policy, but to look at this

4 outside of the context of the whole would be perhaps

5 misleading.

6           MR. BOESCH:  Yes.  Just picking up on what

7 Chancellor Ulmer has --

8           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  This is Don Boesch,

9 Commissioner Boesch.

10           MR. BOESCH:  -- said, I certainly agree that

11 that's the context on which the other findings need to

12 be placed and that we need to look at this within the

13 context of our national, evolving national energy

14 policy, and specifically, although I don't think it

15 needs to be in the short one-sentence finding, it needs

16 to be stated I think that our nation, our President

17 representing our nation has, and with other nations of

18 the world, many of the major nations of the world, both

19 developed and developing nations, has agreed to this

20 Copenhagen accord which sends us on a collective path

21 towards reducing our carbon emissions and that by, you

22 know, there be some specific targets by 2020, but in

18

1 the out-years the very important implications of that

2 we're going to have to reduce our emissions by 50 to 80

3 percent by the year 2050.

4            Why that's important to our specific

5 findings is that finding number 1 as presently worded

6 talks about the dependence on offshore oil for the

7 foreseeable future.  I think it depends on what the

8 definition of foreseeable is.  We have before us

9 evidence gained by our staff mainly from the US Energy

10 Information Agency which gives some projections of oil

11 production, both domestic and imported oil, from now

12 until year 2035, and if we -- and these projections

13 basically assume level consumption rates.  However, if

14 we are going to be on a path to lead us to rather

15 dramatic reductions by 2050, we will have had to put in

16 place policies that begin to reduce our consumption of

17 oil as a nation in that time frame.

18            So I think we need to be more specific in

19 that regard about what foreseeable is and be talking

20 about this transition.  In fact, I think when the

21 President formed this commission, he made it clear that

22 this was in the context of national energy policy but

19

1 we would have to make some major changes, but in the

2 near term at least we will be heavily dependent on oil

3 production, domestic oil production, largely offshore,

4 but I would like to think that we could make this

5 finding number 4 now but move it up to the front and

6 put some of that context in it that we in the next 40

7 years will be having to make this fairly significant

8 transition in our energy economy and that decisions

9 made about the oil and gas resources and the offshore

10 environments of the United States will have to be made

11 in that context moving forward, and that may change

12 some of the foreseeable use and demand in that same

13 time frame.

14           MR. GARCIA:  In reading findings 1 and 2 I

15 wonder if we're giving a sufficient amount of emphasis

16 to the fact that there's been a steady progression in

17 offshore drilling to deep and the ultra deep and in the

18 future that's the direction we're headed, and the

19 challenge is we're going to increase accordingly, and I

20 just don't get the sense from reading these two points

21 that that is clear.

22           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  The research we have

20

1 certainly makes clear that we're headed toward a time

2 when offshore will constitute the vast majority of

3 domestic oil and gas production.  We have those

4 numbers, I've seen them --

5           MR. GARCIA:  Right.

6           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  -- and how fast that's

7 expected to rise.  So we can certainly say --

8           MR. GARCIA:  We've all seen the line where

9 shallow water drilling is decreasing and ultra deep

10 water drilling is increasing which does have

11 consequences for safety and environmental impacts.

12           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  You would include something

13 in the numbers?

14           MR. GARCIA:  Well, I think we just need to

15 somehow reference that this is a significant goal.  We

16 say that the technology's advanced but we don't really

17 say that there is a steady progression into ultra deep

18 water.

19           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Chancellor Ulmer's done the

20 homework on that, so we can do that.

21           MS. BEINECKE:  To follow up on that, I think

22 the public would be interested to know that Deepwater
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1 Horizon's depth at 5,000 feet which doesn't seem it's

2 actually deep was only half as deep as where a lot of

3 the new operations were going.  So to really indicate

4 in the text what the transition has been and where it's

5 expected to go and ensure that the system is designed

6 for those areas is very important to answer.

7           MS. MURRAY:  I would also say the hazards of

8 ultra deep water need to be spelled out a little bit

9 more in these findings.

10           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  In the first four points

11 or --

12           MS. MURRAY:  Or somewhere.

13           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  -- somewhere in there.

14           MS. MURRAY:  Well, the fact that we're going

15 more and more into deep water or there are other

16 technologies that could help extract more oil from the

17 land as well which is a point.  It all depends on cost,

18 and technologies can lower the cost dramatically, and

19 it depends on the cost of oil as well.

20           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Do you have the sense that

21 we're overassuming the importance of offshore, deep

22 offshore development versus what might be available

22

1 with new technologies on that?

2           MS. MURRAY:  I have a sense that we should at

3 least point out that there are other technologies that

4 exist.  We're right now extrapolating the near leap of

5 what we have been seeing instead of saying, well, wait

6 a minute, if oil prices go up way higher, we're going

7 to go back to the land and pull out 50 percent of the

8 oil still there, and you know, we just need to be a

9 little more careful than pure extrapolation.

10           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Okay.

11           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  And I would also raise the

12 question:  Are there factors that are other than market

13 driven that would affect the sequencing of where we get

14 our petroleum?  If we are concerned as number 4, soon

15 to be number 1, indicates about availability of

16 domestic reserves for future generations, do we want to

17 leave them only with those forms that are the most

18 difficult and potentially represent even greater risk

19 of environmental challenges than offshore oil drilling.

20           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  The technology issue is

21 really so important.  If you look at what we're now

22 told about how much natural gas we can expect to have

23

1 in the future, five years ago those numbers would have

2 been totally different.  The technology developed so

3 fast that now our reserves are much more significant.

4            Your point I guess is that the same could

5 happen to half of 45 percent or whatever it is of oil

6 that's still in the ground on the shore and it could be

7 a new source of energy we don't now think is

8 developable.  Okay.

9           MS. MURRAY:  And to Senator Graham's point,

10 our national security does depend on us having a

11 readily available energy supply, and do we want to

12 leave that easily achievable?  But how big do we want

13 our petroleum reserves to be?  That's a very good

14 question.  That's part of the national energy strategy

15 that we need as a context.

16           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  And you're not just

17 referring to the storage down in the Gulf.

18           MS. MURRAY:  No.

19           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  You're talking nationwide.

20           MS. MURRAY:  Nationwide.

21           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  I -- go ahead, Bob.  Sorry.

22           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  I think there's an

24

1 interesting historical example of what happened to

2 Germany at the end of World War II.  Germany had

3 depended first on North Africa as a petroleum source.

4 They lost that in '43.  Then they were depending on the

5 oil fields in Romania which they lost in '45, and then

6 they were down to trying to create petroleum out of

7 their domestic coal supply, and they could not maintain

8 an effective military.  Without editorializing on that

9 those I think are the facts of the matter, and I would

10 not like to leave to our children and grandchildren of

11 America which is at the threat of not being able to

12 defend itself and continue to assume all the

13 international responsibilities which a great power with

14 our set of values for the world represent not being

15 able to carry out our security for our own people in

16 addition to the world.

17           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  But that intention is

18 captured in availability of domestic reserves for

19 future generations.  Would you add to it?

20           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  I would -- I think there

21 needs to be a sense of -- we could say we are

22 fulfilling that commitment to our future generations by
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1 leaving them with oil shale or other types, but is that

2 the appropriate legacy that we want to leave to our

3 children?  And to Dean Murray's point, is that what we

4 would want to have as our ultimate resource at a time

5 of national emergency?  But I think some discussion of

6 where does exploration and extraction of the Gulf as

7 one source of our energy put us into a long time

8 horizon of wanting to have access over many decades?

9 Where does it fit?  Should we take it now or should we

10 take some of it now and have a conscious national

11 policy holding some of it for the future?  I think

12 those are the kind of questions that we ought to also

13 have on our list.

14           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  So the finding ends up we

15 need to move forward in this field but not to the point

16 of risking depletion of the resources for future

17 generations.

18           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Yes.

19           MS. ULMER:  Mr. Chairman, I think this is an

20 extremely important point, and I'm glad you raised it,

21 Senator, because I think it is something that tends to

22 get lost in the debate over whether we need to drill

26

1 more today for our national security or whether we

2 think about national security as an issue in the

3 context of multi generations or just even a few decades

4 out.

5            One of the charts that I would like us to

6 think about trying to include that would help put some

7 context around this issue was something that I haven't

8 seen yet.  It actually looks at the percentage of

9 United States consumption today, the percentage of

10 United States production today and the percentage of US

11 proved reserves, and if I look at the June 2009

12 Statistical Review of World Energy, what I see in there

13 is that US is at 22 percent consumption of oil, 7.8

14 percent of production of oil, and only 2.4 percent of

15 proved reserves in the world.

16            So the notion that we all carry around with

17 our, you know, we talk about national security being

18 independence, being energy independence, but when you

19 look at the numbers of what the United States proved

20 reserves are, and admittedly there's always the

21 possibility that technology will change that number,

22 but if you just look at it today, you get a very

27

1 different picture of what national security means, both

2 today and in the future.

3            So I think some sort of charting around that

4 would help to put into perspective for people the

5 notion of how much we're consuming, how much we're

6 producing and how much we think we have in the ground

7 to produce today and in the future.

8           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  The only point I would make

9 though is if the template is independence, thus we're

10 hugely dependent, and probably in the energy economy

11 always will be trading back and forth, and if that is

12 the measure, we're not going to come close.

13           MS. ULMER:  Exactly.

14           MS. BEINECKE:  Mr. Chairman I do think though

15 that's why putting it in a context of --

16           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  This is Commissioner Fran

17 Beinecke.

18           MS. BEINECKE:  -- yes, why we need to look at

19 not only what our current production is but what our

20 future transportation policies are because this is

21 largely focused on transportation and look at what the

22 strategies are that are under consideration like more
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1 fuel efficient vehicles, that there are recommendations

2 that are currently being considered that will decrease

3 our oil use significantly as those get enacted over

4 time, and more, higher percentage of electric vehicles,

5 and the other transportation strategies that are under

6 discussion because the extent to which those are

7 adopted will over time affect what our oil needs are,

8 and if they're not, you know, we'll be on a similar

9 trajectory that we're on now.

10            But that's just the contextual content that

11 we ought to be delineating in the report, not that

12 we're going to have the answers for that but for the

13 reader that they look at what the tradeoffs are for

14 this program compared to other strategies that are

15 existing.

16           MR. SMITH:  One point of order.  Could I just

17 ask the group to talk a little bit closer to the

18 microphones to make sure that the live feed can pick

19 them up.

20           MS. BEINECKE:  She can read it back.

21           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Are there other comments on

22 these first four proposed general findings?
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1           MR. GARCIA:  Just to be a bit of a devil's

2 advocate.  I agree with what's been said, but I do

3 think we need to be careful about how far we take that

4 discussion on national energy policy.  We've got a lot

5 on our plate, and it's good to put it into context,

6 it's good to know that this is what's driving offshore

7 drilling, but at the end of the day we're looking at

8 how do we prevent or mitigate future incidents.  So I

9 just think we need to keep that in mind, and certainly

10 our audience needs to keep that in mind what it is

11 we're trying to do.

12           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  This is Commissioner Terry

13 Garcia.

14           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Certainly the President had

15 it in mind when he said don't write me a new energy

16 policy.

17           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  If there are no other

18 comments on the four items that constitute group A,

19 Dean Murray.

20           MS. MURRAY:  Yes.  That was the perfect segue

21 to the next set of four potential general findings

22 which you're talking about industry, technology and
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1 management systems.  So let me read them.

2            Potential finding number 5, and I call these

3 potential because they are not wordsmithed, and we

4 don't want to wordsmith them here.  We just want to

5 make sure we get the general ideas.

6            Despite the impressive technology developed

7 for offshore drilling, there were not comparable

8 developments in the technologies that provide safety in

9 the challenging new environments in which the industry

10 operated.

11            Number 6:  Offshore rigs have complex

12 management problems because of the combination of prime

13 operators, subcontractors and equipment manufacturers

14 needed to make them work.

15            Number 7:  Some companies in the Gulf of

16 Mexico failed to apply process safety measures to

17 provide unified coordination of the range of complex

18 technical tasks on large rigs and the diversity of

19 companies working on them.

20            And finally number 8:  The entire oil and

21 gas industry failed to provide adequate contingency

22 plans, including the availability of adequate
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1 containment systems, for a major well blowout in the

2 Gulf of Mexico, or to advance technologies for oil

3 recovery should a blowout occur.

4            So we have heard a number of -- both the

5 staff and the subcommittees have heard a number of and

6 talked to a number of people, have heard a number of

7 testimony from the companies themselves as well as for

8 the formerly MMS or BOEM of the regulator, and in

9 particular it was quite evident to at least our

10 subcommittee that there were incredible developments in

11 the technology to extract oil in deeper and deeper

12 waters.

13            For reasons that we could go into in great

14 depth, but I won't here, the technologies that provide

15 safety were not as far developed.  I would say safety

16 or containment as we saw in the case of the Deepwater

17 Horizon, as BP and the rest of the industry in a major

18 hurry had to develop containment systems that were not

19 anticipated, they actually did a reasonable job.  We

20 would have liked to have those ahead of time.

21            So part of the issue here is what is the

22 safety culture of the entire industry, and what is it
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1 that we need to expect of the entire industry.  So I

2 will open it up for discussion then.  Questions.

3           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Commissioner Don Boesch.

4           MR. BOESCH:  I think these four findings are

5 particularly important.  You know, much of the focus of

6 the work of the Commission will be dealing with

7 government and government responsibilities and

8 management of resources and regulations and the like,

9 but I think these, all four of these, point to the

10 primary responsibility that in order to address the

11 actions taken to minimize this risk in the future,

12 those are going to be fundamentally industry

13 responsibilities to implement.

14            So I think all four, yes, you could point to

15 some failings that not only individual companies but

16 maybe the industry as a whole needs to take stock of

17 and develop some solutions for.  So I think these are

18 quite appropriate findings.

19           MS. MURRAY:  Yes.  I would say they also

20 point to opportunities for the industry to, which we're

21 going to come to later, but there are many

22 opportunities to take a new look at the safety culture



NATIONAL OIL SPILL COMMISSION MEETING
CONDUCTED ON WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 13, 2010

888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM
PLANET DEPOS

9 (Pages 33 to 36)

33

1 and what we need to have in the future.

2           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  One thing that we'll have

3 to deal with not only in these potential general

4 findings but elsewhere is the correlation of what's

5 going to be the text in our report and the findings,

6 and these reflect a desire for the findings to be

7 fairly sparse and not very elaborate.  I think in the

8 text we need to surround these findings with things

9 that catch the public's attention and imagination.

10            For instance, the comment that Bill,

11 Co-Chair Bill Reilly, who was the EPA administrator

12 during the Exxon Valdez has made on several occasions

13 his surprise that there have not been greater advances

14 in safety and containment in the 20 years since.

15 That's a quotation that captures the spirit of what

16 we're talking about with these general findings.

17           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  You bring up a very good

18 point, to include insofar as we can without making them

19 voluminous specific examples, sort of what you just

20 described.  The skimmers don't work in the open ocean.

21 The booms all break.  The technology that's been

22 invested in them has been negligible by the industry
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1 and by the government.  R and D is hardly extant in the

2 government on this whole enterprise.  That's really got

3 to change.

4            It's encouraging that the industry is going

5 to create a containment enterprise that will begin to

6 focus on some of those things, but we're not there now,

7 and we certainly weren't there on April 20th.

8           MS. MURRAY:  Well, the other thing to point

9 out is that the containment systems that eventually

10 killed the well were there at the icstock.  So we did

11 not learn, we as a globe, did not learn from 20-year-

12 earlier well blowout in the Gulf of Mexico.

13           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Is that sombrero?

14           MS. MURRAY:  Sombrero, yes.

15           MS. BEINECKE:  I do think that --

16           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  This is Commissioner

17 Frances Beinecke.

18           MS. BEINECKE:  I do think that point in the

19 findings to put some of those dates particularly since

20 the Exxon Valdez over the 20-year period there hasn't

21 been an advancement in the spill cleanup technologies

22 because -- you said that many times, that I think that
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1 has come, you know, to all of us as something of a

2 surprise, and one of our challenges should be, now that

3 we've identified it, is the continual improvement which

4 clearly we didn't have in that case.  So, you know,

5 understanding that since the last big accident things

6 have not advanced, and our recommendations hopefully

7 will design a system that allows improvements.

8           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Commissioner Terry Garcia.

9           MR. GARCIA:  Yes, thank you.  You know, we've

10 gone through an exercise now of dealing with a well at

11 5,000 feet, and maybe this is an assignment for later

12 on for the staff, but to get some additional

13 information on what would be the additional challenges

14 say if you have a well blowout at 10,000 feet, how much

15 more difficult would it be to address that because

16 we've got 5,000 feet down now, but will we have another

17 blowout at 5,000 feet?

18           MS. MURRAY:  Well, we actually, we are 12,000

19 feet down now, and actually it's not just the depth of

20 the water, although the depth of the water of course is

21 important because that is the pressure --

22           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  This is Dean Murray.
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1           MS. MURRAY:  -- involved and temperature, but

2 it's also the geologic formation, and it turns out that

3 the challenges in the geologic formations which are

4 very, very high pressure with a large amount of gas in

5 the Gulf of Mexico in the deep, deepest waters are

6 quite, they're quite challenging and, in fact, the

7 balance between the weight of the mud and the

8 hydrostatic pressure and the formation pressure is

9 becoming a little -- they're becoming very close, and

10 so it makes it even harder to do well control.  But

11 that depends on the geology and not just the depth.  I

12 mean the depth of course causes all sorts of other

13 problems.  If you have a lot of gas at low temperature

14 of water, the gas comes out very hot.  The gas is

15 methane or a fluoroclastinate (phonetic) which we saw

16 happening in the first containment effort, and there's

17 also hydrogen sulfide which is highly toxic that can

18 get on rigs.

19            So there are many hazards here that need to

20 be mitigated, and they're risks, and the risks don't go

21 away.  The risks are there.

22           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  I wonder if it would be



NATIONAL OIL SPILL COMMISSION MEETING
CONDUCTED ON WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 13, 2010

888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM
PLANET DEPOS

10 (Pages 37 to 40)

37

1 appropriate to have either an expansion of one of these

2 five points or a new general finding that we need to be

3 more site specific.  We have rules that say if you're

4 more than 5,000 feet, you're extant, but the fact is,

5 as Dean Murray just said, we're dealing with different

6 geologies --

7           MS. MURRAY:  Right.

8           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  -- and other factors, and

9 frankly we also are dealing with different levels of

10 competencies of companies.  Some have said that a

11 company with a very spotty safety record ended up

12 leasing what could be defined as one of the more

13 dangerous sites in the Gulf of Mexico, linking the

14 specific site safety risk that that poses with who are

15 we going to give the responsibility for exploring and

16 extracting in that site and the safety requirements in

17 doing so on a much more specific basis than we have in

18 the past I think will be an appropriate area to

19 explore.

20           MS. MURRAY:  That's certainly a good point,

21 and the point of -- this is now getting to response --

22 but even in containment in the Arctic where it is very
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1 much colder with sea ice, it's very different from the

2 Gulf of Mexico, and that needs to be, to your point,

3 site specific.

4           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  We have had this --

5           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  This is Bill Reilly.

6           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  We've had discussions of

7 practices in Norway at least, possibly other places,

8 where companies are actually certified to undertake

9 particularly complex deep sea drilling based upon their

10 previous history in that area, and if they've not got a

11 history they have to partner with somebody who will be

12 the operator who has.

13            I don't know whether we, if this is the

14 place where findings should go, but we've certainly

15 considered that in one of the subcommittees, and if

16 it's not in this block, then I think we ought to

17 provide for it because I think we pretty much all agree

18 on that.  I suspect we do.

19           MS. ULMER:  Regulation.

20           MS. MURRAY:  It's all regulation.

21           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  I'd say one other item that

22 we touched on is the fact that this is a global
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1 industry, and there were experiences as close as Mexico

2 that could have provided us some valuable information

3 on which we could have acted and maybe avoided this

4 tragedy.  The industry seems to be surprisingly insular

5 given the fact that it is so global.

6            So ways in which we could encourage a

7 greater sharing of best practices in an expedited basis

8 on a worldwide stage might be another finding that

9 would be appropriate for this section.

10           MR. BOESCH:  Mr. Chairman, I'd like to also

11 suggest that as we finalize these rewording of these

12 findings we make sure as appropriate --

13           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  This is Commissioner Don

14 Boesch.

15           MR. BOESCH:  Yes, as appropriate it makes

16 reference also to production facilities because

17 especially when in deep water environments we will be

18 putting in place brand new technologies, and we have an

19 expectation that they're going to perform for decades

20 as we produce the oil, and so I think we ought to make

21 sure that we are paying equal attention to production

22 facilities and wells, the drilling, both exploratory
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1 and production well drilling as we, as we consider the

2 safety issues in the industry.

3           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  We have now reached the

4 time, unless there are further comments on the five

5 recommendations that constitute group B of potential

6 general findings.  We will move on to group C which

7 will be led by Commissioner Fran Ulmer.

8           MS. ULMER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I'll go

9 ahead and read the three remaining items of findings

10 under this subcommittee.

11            The national interest requires the

12 continuation of a strong and safe offshore drilling

13 program, one with a better balancing of risk and with

14 greater safety protections for human life, the

15 environment and the economy.

16            And then I'm going to go to number 11 and

17 read it as number 10 because I think that's where it

18 fits.  By forming a Marine Well Containment Company,

19 some in the oil and gas industry are beginning to

20 address the absence of a readily available containment

21 system for the Gulf of Mexico.  Many key decisions that

22 will help determine the long-term viability and success
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1 of the organization, however, have yet to be made.

2            And finally, the oil and gas industry is

3 planning for exploration developments in frontier areas

4 outside the Gulf of Mexico, including the Arctic, which

5 would introduce new safety challenges, many of which

6 have not been fully analyzed.

7            So these three kind of taken as a group are

8 I guess embracing the reality that we will be

9 continuing this activity, but this new activity,

10 particularly in new areas, may require some new ways of

11 doing business and some new ways of thinking both from

12 the standpoint of how the industry develops its R and

13 D, for example, the containment company approach for

14 the Gulf of Mexico, but also both the regulatory and

15 industry activities in frontier areas like the Arctic.

16 As Dean Murray was saying, it's the Gulf of Mexico and

17 the Beaufort Sea and the Chechen Sea are wildly

18 different places, and so to imagine that exactly the

19 same kind of approach both from a standpoint of the

20 industry technology, from the standpoint of the level

21 of scrutiny from the government but also perhaps from

22 the standpoint of whether we choose to require some
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1 additional protections given the nature of the special

2 place.  So those are on the table for discussion.

3           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Comments?

4           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Well, 9's certainly a no-

5 brainer.  We have so much research and so much

6 background that supports these findings, I think that

7 they're fine.

8           MS. BEINECKE:  Well, I have a comment on

9 number --

10           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  This is Commissioner

11 Francis Beinecke.

12           MS. BEINECKE:  Thank you -- 11.  11, your new

13 11, Chancellor.  The Arctic, it seems to me that they

14 were not only introducing new safety challenges but

15 also new environmental challenges because operating in

16 a sea ice condition is very, very different than in the

17 Gulf of Mexico.  So I think we should add that

18 provision there, and also that finding indicates that

19 the oil and gas industry is planning for exploration

20 and development of frontier areas, but they can only

21 plan for that as the federal government actually

22 proceeds with drilling in those areas.  So I actually
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1 wonder if the finding shouldn't be the federal

2 government is, you know, is evaluating whether to,

3 because right now they are currently evaluating

4 exploration development in frontier areas which would

5 introduce new challenges.

6           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  But there is a suspension

7 now of any activity, right, by the federal government?

8 So it's not even -- it's not even an ongoing plan at

9 the moment.

10           MS. BEINECKE:  It's under reevaluation is

11 what it would be now, but I think the decision, I'm

12 just making the point that the decision is actually the

13 federal government's decision on whether or not to

14 proceed.  It's not the industry's decision, and I think

15 we should make that finding.

16           MR. BOESCH:  We could leave the --

17           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  I suspect the industry

18 knows that.

19           MS. BEINECKE:  I'm sure they do.

20           MR. BOESCH:  The one type of finding could be

21 the same.

22           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Commissioner Don Boesch.
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1           MR. BOESCH:  But I think in the narrative we

2 need to be more specific about the exact stated point,

3 that there actually aren't leases that have been

4 granted but the exploratory drilling has been suspended

5 and final determination, government determinations have

6 not yet been made.

7            Also on that point, if I could just, again,

8 you want to keep these findings as simple one

9 sentences, but it would be certainly, if I were just

10 reading them from an executive level, I would certainly

11 might want to see a few examples about what we mean to

12 be many of these risks have not been analyzed, for

13 instance, three examples or something of that sort.

14           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  I completely agree with

15 that.  To the extent we could do that with almost any

16 of the findings without overburdening them with

17 verbiage, I would say we ought to do it because coming

18 to this without having had the background we have I

19 think I would have a lot of questions about what in

20 fact this commission is saying.

21           MR. GARCIA:  I had a point.  Maybe it's

22 implicit --
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1           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Commissioner Terry Garcia.

2           MR. GARCIA:  -- new safety and environment

3 challenges.  We discovered that with respect to the

4 Gulf of Mexico and certainly with respect to the Arctic

5 that we don't know enough about these systems at this

6 point to be able to pronounce certainly in the Gulf

7 what was the base line that we were dealing with when

8 this thing occurred.  So just the point that we don't

9 know enough about these systems at this stage in

10 addition to these safety and environmental challenges

11 and that more science is going to be necessary so that

12 we have a full understanding of what we're doing and

13 where we're going.

14           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  I don't want to be the

15 skunk at the picnic party, but the first line of number

16 9, the national interest requires the continuation and

17 expansion of a strong offshore drilling program.  I am

18 not prepared to accept that as a biblical statement of

19 the proof.  It seems to me that goes back to what we

20 talked about in group A where we said we ought to first

21 have some sense of what is the national energy policy,

22 and then how does offshore fit into that policy as
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1 opposed to declaring extant a national energy policy

2 that the nation is required to continue to expand its

3 offshore drilling.

4           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Realistically though it

5 seems to me that if you're now getting 30 percent of

6 your domestic supply from offshore and the prospects

7 are that that will increase very significantly in years

8 ahead, you have to have some alternatives available

9 before you clamp down and say more expansion or now

10 we're actually going to increase production.

11           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Well, I think what we heard

12 earlier today was that a dominant reason for the

13 decline in onshore and an increase in offshore is that

14 amounts we can achieve.  Even at 9 or $10 a barrel

15 people are willing to invest in offshore drilling.

16 That's how economically advantageous it is.  Are we

17 going to say that our national policy is totally market

18 driven, that there are no other considerations such as

19 national security that ought to be part of the mix?

20 Where do we go to get our oil?

21           MS. MURRAY:  Or environmental protection.

22 That's another national policy.
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1           MS. ULMER:  Mr. Chairman, I might note that I

2 read that differently.  I read the continuation of a

3 strong and safe offshore drilling program which was

4 reflecting of my sentiments, and I believe it reflects

5 many people's sentiment that just because something is

6 today does not necessarily mean it will be tomorrow,

7 and we all tend to, the point that was made earlier, we

8 tend to think linearly.  Because we see a trend line we

9 think that there's nothing that can change that, and I

10 just remind you that in the '90s President Clinton

11 greatly spiked the development of offshore drilling by

12 asking Congress and then Congress passing a law that

13 forgave royalties for all practical purposes on these

14 waters incentivizing additional investment.

15            So public policy can influence whether you

16 see an additional investment in the technology on the

17 shore or offshore, and that is a strategic choice.  It

18 isn't necessarily a given.

19           MR. GARCIA:  Would you read your finding

20 number 9 again.

21           MS. ULMER:  The national interest requires

22 continuation of a strong and safe offshore drilling
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1 program.

2           MR. BOESCH:  Just by striking "and

3 expanding."

4           MS. ULMER:  And adding "and safe," but again

5 we're not supposed to wordsmith, but I think this is an

6 important conversation about sort of how much of what

7 we're doing here is just assuming what's always been

8 versus the point that the Senator raises about

9 imagining what else is possible.

10           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  And I recognize that what I

11 am suggesting is that we insert some non-market

12 considerations into this matter that I don't think it's

13 in the nation's interest to have judgments on a product

14 that is so sinful to our economy, our life style as

15 well as our security to be made totally on market

16 demand basis, that we have to move to assert some other

17 considerations.

18           MR. BOESCH:  Just to reflect on the data that

19 we're presented by staff from the National -- from the

20 US Energy Information Administration projections.  Out

21 to 2035 would assume, first of all, Mr. Chairman, that

22 onshore production actually continues to dominate over
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1 offshore production, and through that time frame it

2 grows more slowly than offshore production but that the

3 assumptions of projecting offshore projection from 2008

4 to 2035 would almost require a doubling of that

5 offshore production to comport to these projections.

6           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Well, I confess, I assumed

7 based on all of the energy analysis that I have seen

8 that through at least the 20s, 2020s, fossil fuels,

9 hydrocarbons, particularly liquid hydrocarbons, not so

10 clearly referring to coal here, are going to be

11 essential to the US economy.  I don't really think

12 that's disputable based on anything we've seen.  Now,

13 technology I suppose could transform that, but

14 certainly --

15           MR. BOESCH:  Not in this time frame.

16           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  -- based on what we know it

17 seems unlikely that that could happen.  The automobile

18 industry could take 10 or 12 years to turn over and

19 there's some credence to that.  So I think we ought to

20 be realistic about that in terms of making a

21 recommendation that the President ought not to suggest

22 something that really is inconsistent with the
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1 mainstream assumptions about projected supply and

2 demand and technology that he couldn't take seriously.

3           MS. BEINECKE:  I agree with that,

4 Mr. Chairman.  It would be useful.  The EIA graphs

5 didn't show what the anticipated changes would be from

6 the new fuel efficiency standards for cars and the new

7 ones that are being contemplated post 2016.  So

8 actually if the staff could provide a graph of what

9 those changes actually result in I think it would help

10 us in our determination of what we think we do have to

11 put forth.

12           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  I think it would help us,

13 but we're still expecting to be importing more than 60

14 percent of so of our oil.

15           MS. BEINECKE:  That would be just as

16 interesting.  I understand that.

17           MR. BOESCH:  Absolutely.  The other part of

18 that in addition to the reality of how much more

19 production would you have to get from the offshore in

20 order to meet these projections is the other reality in

21 terms of the likely reserves that I think many

22 Americans believe that if we just get more progressive

51

1 in producing oil offshore, we could substantially

2 reduce our imports, and I don't think any of the data

3 supports that at all.

4           MS. ULMER:  Exactly.  That's sort of the gap

5 between the public perception perhaps encouraged by

6 those of us who would love to imagine that reality

7 versus reality, and everything we know about the

8 numbers that gap cannot be filled regardless of how

9 much we drill, baby, drill, and that's something that

10 somebody has to kind of level with the American people

11 about.

12           There is a certain amount of reality therapy

13 that an independent commission is capable of that

14 perhaps elected officials are not capable of in just

15 kind of confronting these commonly held misperceptions

16 based on hope more than numbers that we can somehow be

17 independent, that we can reduce imports.  It's not

18 possible, and so given that, yes, of course we're going

19 to have a continued oil and gas industry, absolutely,

20 but to tell people that we can get to some imaginary

21 goal of completely eliminating imports is so out of

22 bounds from reality.  Somebody has to state that.
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1           MR. BOESCH:  Unless we go to alternative

2 energy sources and greater efficiency.

3           MS. ULMER:  All electric cars.  This is a

4 hypothetical situation.  This would take decades.

5 However, if you went to all-electric cars, that means

6 that 70 percent of our oil usage would go away.

7           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  I would suggest, and I will

8 leave this with Richard, as to how we can do this, but

9 we need to have a very data driven discussion on this

10 matter.  There are a lot of -- for instance, look back

11 at number 3, the last phrase there, thereby

12 contributing to national security and reduction of the

13 trade deficit.  Now that implies that we are in a

14 position to be able to significantly change the

15 equation of domestic versus foreign oil in the United

16 States.  I don't think that is reality under any

17 circumstance, and again I think before we make

18 statements like that we need to be sure that we've got

19 the numbers that will support it.

20           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  I read that as referring to

21 the past:  Offshore production has helped, and so

22 forth, and certainly inarguably it has helped reduce
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1 the trade deficit in the past because if we'd not had

2 it, we simply would have made it up with imports.  That

3 seems to be a fair statement of where we've been.

4           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Well, I read it as a future

5 statement.

6           MS. MURRAY:  Yeah.  Projecting into the

7 future is not clear.

8           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Well, oil production has

9 helped offset declines in production elsewhere,

10 moderated dependence on foreign imports.

11           MS. MURRAY:  I would argue that those are

12 economic.  Because we have onshore oil production we

13 won't import some of the most expensive.  People can't

14 raise these gas prices as much internationally because

15 we'll just, you know, come up with our own.

16           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Well, I don't know if I'd

17 agree with that.  I think our international oil economy

18 is something in which we are embedded and have very

19 little price power, that those prices are set by an

20 international market that given our production I don't

21 think we could substantially alter.

22           MS. MURRAY:  I think that's true now, but I
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1 don't think that's true in the past.  I mean the point

2 being it's this forward looking or backwards looking,

3 and we should make that very clear.

4           MR. BOESCH:  I think also even

5 retrospectively if you look at this graph you would

6 say, you would be hard pressed to say that it has

7 reduced the trade deficit.  It has kept the trade

8 deficit from growing larger than it is.

9           MS. MURRAY:  True.

10           MR. GARCIA:  So where are we on 9?

11           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  I think we -- my own

12 feeling is we're comfortable with that.  We're going to

13 need serious data driven discussion.

14           MS. MURRAY:  Yeah.  I think there is a time

15 frame.  Obviously we can't change our energy sources

16 quickly.  It takes 30 to 50 years to change over to a

17 new energy economy, and so what 9 says, that the

18 national interest requires a continuation.  Certainly

19 in the short term it does because we're not just going

20 to flip it off, but that doesn't necessarily mean

21 that's going to be the case a hundred years from now.

22           MS. BEINECKE:  Well, then maybe you would
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1 want to put that in a time frame, you know.

2           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  And that time frame could

3 be defined --

4           MS. MURRAY:  Over the next decade or

5 whatever.

6           MS. BEINECKE:  Or as these fuel efficiencies

7 kick in.

8           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  To me the time frame is not

9 in a number of years but rather in the achievement of

10 an objective which is that we have become significantly

11 less dependent on traditional hardened forms of energy.

12           MS. BEINECKE:  Fuel, right.

13           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  And when we've done that,

14 we're going to be dependent on coal until we've made

15 that transition which is probably, you know, at least

16 one or two generations.

17           MS. MURRAY:  Although you could say if we go

18 to an electric fleet and it's powered by coal, we have

19 to switch out carbons.

20           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Just how long is it going

21 to take to do that?

22           MS. MURRAY:  Yeah.  It will take the time
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1 that it would take to switch over to a completely

2 electric fleet, which again, on the 30- to 50-year,

3 maybe even 20, 20- to 50-year time frame.

4           MR. BOESCH:  That also requires the

5 development of carbon capturing technologies.

6 Otherwise you'd be more dependent on carbon than oil.

7           MS. MURRAY:  I know.  That's not a complete

8 list.  It's certainly true, but it's not completely.

9           MR. BOESCH:  I think the point I think we're

10 agreeing on is that there's -- I don't think anyone --

11 everyone has relisted that for the near term and

12 measured in certainly a decade, arguably maybe two

13 decades, we're going to be heavily dependent on oil for

14 our transportation capabilities in particular, but that

15 beyond that we envision and I think the nation

16 envisions and the world envisions some transition to

17 other energy sources in that horizon, and really that

18 horizon is not so far out in terms of the decisions

19 that the nation is making in terms of development of

20 offshore resources.

21            So I think it, you know, we have to be a

22 little bit more precise than saying foreseeable future
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1 these kinds of things and maybe be specific about

2 transitions that we would envision and the role of oil

3 and from the offshore environment.

4           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Commissioner Don Boesch.

5           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  I think the President --

6           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Chairman Bill Reilly.

7           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  -- I think we are invested

8 in the transition and very much want to see it move

9 forward to decarbonize the society.  Certainly my own

10 history is being very committed to that, but I think to

11 create too close a connection between policies with

12 respect to offshore oil and gas development and that

13 transition may be stretching it a bit far, and it's not

14 clear to me.  Certainly we want to constrain offshore

15 oil and gas development for reasons of overriding

16 safety and the environmental concerns; we really do.

17 We are prepared to curtail development, to constrain it

18 with new regulations, to be much more careful than we

19 have been, to require more safety practices by industry

20 and better regulatory capabilities by the government,

21 but it doesn't seem to me that that is directly going

22 to play a significant role in moving us toward the
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1 transition.  So I think as a commission for us to over

2 emphasize the importance of the transition is a little

3 bit of a distraction, and it's more than I suspect we

4 can contribute as we look at offshore drilling.

5           MR. GARCIA:  Well, maybe then on finding

6 number 9, I mean it seems to me the key point as far as

7 this commission is concerned is that the continuation

8 and expansion of strong offshore drilling requires a

9 better balancing of risk with greater safety

10 protections for human life, the environment and the

11 economy, without getting into the discussion of whether

12 the national interest requires the continuation but the

13 continuation of expansion will require a better

14 balancing of risk.

15           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  I think that's well said.

16           MS. BEINECKE:  I would just add if we're

17 going to do that, I think we ought to focus on

18 continuation because continuation and the opportunity

19 for the administration to ultimately decide whether

20 that incorporates expansion, and I don't think that's a

21 decision we have to make.  We have to make sure that

22 any offshore program has better standards, better
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1 environmental review, better safety provisions.  So I

2 would just eliminate the expansion part of it because

3 that's what we don't want to discriminate and just

4 assure that whatever the program is operate it in a

5 fashion --

6           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  I was just thinking a

7 headline that says offshore drilling commission

8 responding to the blowout in the Gulf recommends

9 expansion of offshore drilling.

10           MS. BEINECKE:  Exactly.

11           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  I actually have no problem

12 with that.

13           MS. BEINECKE:  Let's not do that.

14           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Are there any further

15 comments on group C?  If not, that completes the review

16 of the potential general findings under offshore

17 drilling.  Bill.

18           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  All right.  Thank you.

19 They stood up pretty well.  That's good committee work.

20 Congratulations, committee members.

21           MS. MURRAY:  We have to see what the

22 revisions look like.
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1           MS. ULMER:  These are the notes that I've

2 taken in terms of changes that we need to make, so I'm

3 not so sure.  We have a little work to do.

4           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  All right.  Well, with that

5 we will now take up the Subcommittee on Regulatory

6 Oversight of which the members are Chancellor Ulmer and

7 Miss Beinecke and myself, and groups A, 1 through 3,

8 group B, 3 through 6, and group C, 7 through 10, and I

9 will discuss the last group and Frances the second,

10 group B, and Fran Ulmer will begin, and you might begin

11 by reading them so that everybody has it.

12           MS. ULMER:  Certainly.  So group A has two

13 points, two findings:  Number one, roles and

14 responsibilities; and number two, regulatory

15 coordination.

16            (1) Roles and responsibilities:  MMS had

17 four distinct responsibilities requiring different

18 skill sets and cultures.  First of all, offshore

19 leasing; secondly, revenue collection and auditing; and

20 thirdly, permitting and operational safety; finally,

21 environmental protection.

22            The language of the Outer Continental Shelf
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1 Lands Act, which we will refer to as OCSLA, has been

2 interpreted as elevating the goal of expeditious and

3 orderly development above the requirements of safety

4 and environmental protection.  Every former MMS

5 director from the past 15 years has stated that the

6 royalty issues have taken most of the director's time

7 at the expense of other components of the offshore

8 program.

9            Second finding, regulatory coordination:

10 The regulation of high risk activities on the Outer

11 Continental Shelf has been divided among a number of

12 regulators, DOI, DOT, USGS, OSHA, for producing

13 platforms, pipelines and different types of drilling

14 rigs.  The negotiation and renegotiation of multiple

15 and sequential memoranda of understanding to coordinate

16 and carry out these federal responsibilities has led to

17 inefficiencies and gaps in oversight affecting worker

18 safety and environmental protection.

19            It's a lot of words, but I think the bottom

20 line here is that there are three fundamental problems.

21 First of all, the ambiguity of OCSLA, the offshore --

22 the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act.  OCSLA has built
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1 into it the ambiguity of how best to balance between

2 the development and the safety of the environment and

3 the safety of workers, and in that ambiguity, in that

4 gap has come from different administrations and

5 different administrators different levels of

6 interpreting how to strike that balance, and over time,

7 particularly over the last 30 years, there has been an

8 increasing balancing toward let's do as much and as

9 fast as we possibly can partially driven by the desire

10 for royalties, partially driven by the desire and

11 political pressure to simply get those leases out the

12 door.

13            The second major issue under roles and

14 responsibilities and regulatory coordination is the

15 lack of consultation, effective consultation with the

16 other agencies that have some statutory

17 responsibilities and some considerable expertise that

18 could be brought to bear in how MMS regulates offshore

19 drilling and a classic example of that I think and

20 again I think perhaps it's best that we do include

21 these kinds of examples is that you would think that

22 the Coast Guard would play an active role in reviewing
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1 and making recommendations on oil spill response plans

2 for drilling rigs, yet they don't.  There is no

3 requirement that they do so, and so the Coast Guard is

4 often in the situation of having to do cleanup without

5 having participated in reviewing, making

6 recommendations and helping to formulate how those oil

7 spill response plans should in fact be structured.

8            So that failure of effective consultation

9 added to the ambiguity of OCSLA and the balancing of

10 how quickly you do the development with how much

11 environmental and safety protection there is, that's

12 problem number one and problem number two, and I would

13 say that the third issue is one, and I think we'll get

14 into that a little bit later, I think the Chairman will

15 talk about that, is when those two things are happening

16 at the same time that you have an underresourced

17 agency, an agency that cannot compete from the

18 standpoint of knowledge, number of inspectors, capacity

19 to interact with both the industry and the other

20 agencies; you add all of that up and you get to where

21 we are today which is a sense that the government has

22 not been able to effectively regulate this industry in
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1 a way that protects either worker safety or the

2 environment in a way in which we'd like it to.

3            As a nation we like to take pride in the

4 fact that we do things right, that we do things well,

5 as we look at how other nations, and I'll just use

6 Norway as an example, have engaged in both the

7 identification of the roles and responsibilities and

8 how they regulate them, that we are not the best in the

9 world even though we'd like to be.

10            So perhaps from this unfortunate tragic

11 accident we can learn how to improve the law, how to

12 improve the regulation, how to equip the regulators

13 with kind of both the political capital and financial

14 wherewithal to do a better job.

15           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Comments, questions on

16 group A beginning with 1, roles and responsibilities?

17           MR. BOESCH:  I would just think, this is the

18 last sentence is an interesting observation, garnered

19 from interviews with the former MMS directors about

20 their preoccupation with the royalty issues, and I

21 think that although the royalty issues have been there

22 and it obviously demanded attention, I think asking the
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1 question as the complement:  Why didn't they direct

2 more attention to the leasing development, risk

3 management issues?  I think it's an important point, so

4 if we have some findings related to that, why weren't

5 they paying as much attention to those responsibilities

6 as well as the royalty responsibility?

7           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  I strongly suspect it was

8 18 billion dollars.  I think that was the number of

9 revenues in 2000 was it.  It's hard to imagine people

10 overlooking that either.

11           MR. BOESCH:  I'm not suggesting that they

12 should overlook it, but they have other

13 responsibilities as well to attend to.

14           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  I think as mentioned in

15 those responsibilities it was a mistake, but I think

16 that amount of money is just a stunning number, second

17 largest revenue generator after the IRS, United States

18 government.

19           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  I wonder if, one, the first

20 paragraph of general finding 1 just states a fact, that

21 there are four distinct responsibilities.  Do we want

22 to make some finding as to what the significance of
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1 those four distinct responsibilities, or do we keep

2 plotting that as a good model of the Administration or

3 are there issues that relate to what we're concerned

4 about, primarily safety and environmental protection

5 that flow from that division, and then the second

6 paragraph, it seems to me the second sentence would

7 more appropriately come after the first paragraph since

8 it refers not to the provision that it's in the Outer

9 Continental Shelf Act, but rather it refers to an

10 internal to MMS issue, that is, that their attention

11 was so focused on the one issue of royalties that the

12 others didn't get much attention just as a matter of

13 clarity of the roles.

14           MR. BOESCH:  I think the broader point is

15 that they're obviously competing and maybe even

16 conflicting.

17           MS. MURRAY:  You know, one might consider

18 certainly if that, that last sentence belongs with the

19 first paragraph, but one might consider as a finding

20 what other nations have done as a result of major

21 catastrophes that, for example, permitting the offshore

22 leasing, revenue collecting, safety and environmental
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1 protection are not all in the --

2           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Question for the staff:  Do

3 we not say that somewhere in the findings?  If not in

4 today's set, in the next set?  I thought we did.  I

5 don't see it here, but I just read it.  Shirley Neff.

6           MS. NEFF:  These are just findings so far.

7 We haven't made recommendations.  We haven't spoken to

8 clear findings on the offshore regulators yet.  We have

9 some background information.

10           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  The point is, I think we

11 all can agree, that a finding with respect to the

12 experiences of other countries that have experienced

13 catastrophes, for instance Norway and the UK, has led

14 them to distinguish to separate for purposes of

15 regulation finance, revenue reception than it has from

16 leasing from safety and environmental regulation.

17           MS. NEFF:  So you would like to develop that

18 more fully towards the findings?

19           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Yes.

20           MS. NEFF:  We can do that.

21           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Other comments on the --

22 all right, on number two, regulatory coordination.
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1           MR. BOESCH:  Just a small observation, and

2 Chairman Reilly, you might know better than I, but it

3 seems to me BPA also has a role with respect to

4 regulation of discharges, both water discharges and

5 air, atmospheric conditions?

6           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  It does, and permits are

7 required for all of that, and that's surprising to me

8 that there has been such a concentration and delegation

9 of authorities among even these agencies which

10 statutorily have the responsibility, that it pretty

11 much, first of all, it's diffused authority de facto.

12 We know that based on what we see and possibly partly

13 because it's in some cases a hundred miles out in the

14 Gulf, this rig and several rigs, and secondly, I guess

15 I was very surprised that OSHA does not exercise

16 authority on these rigs, and I still have not had an

17 adequate explanation as to why they do not.  It seems

18 to me from what we have learned just this morning that

19 the accident rate is four times, five times what it is

20 the fatality rate on American rigs versus North Sea or

21 UK experience.  Well, who is paying attention to the

22 safety as a primary concern?  And I guess it's
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1 delegated we learned to.

2           MS. MURRAY:  Coast Guard.

3           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  -- to the Coast Guard which

4 has delegated it further, or not?  I thought they

5 delegated it further to MMS.  Isn't that correct?

6 Yeah.  Which -- well, we're not happy with that, so,

7 all right.  All right.  I think we have a finding here.

8 It's maybe --

9           MS. BEINECKE:  They're not happy.

10           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  That's right.

11           MS. ULMER:  We think we can do better.

12           MS. MURRAY:  One could say that in the UK

13 their OSHA equivalent does have regulatory.

14           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Might be part of the same

15 finding we were just talking about?  Yeah.

16           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  We, in the second sentence

17 of number two, we sort of point to the negotiation and

18 renegotiation of multiple and sequential MOUs as being

19 the problem.  I think the problem is that we haven't

20 aligned agencies with competence to task and inform.

21 OSHA clearly knows more about how to deal with worker

22 safety than either the Coast Guard or MMS.
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1           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  You know, as a former

2 regulator I never thought I had the authority to

3 delegate to another agency statutory responsibilities.

4 I'm a little surprised that all of this is legit, but

5 in any case that seems to me bad policy.

6           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Well, I agree, but it seems

7 to me that we have understated the issue by just making

8 that it's almost a paper shoveling MOU.  The real

9 problem is we don't have the right mission assigned to

10 the right period.

11           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Well said.

12           MR. GARCIA:  Should we also, and Commissioner

13 Ulmer made this point, add a finding about the lack of

14 the --

15           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  This is Commissioner Terry

16 Garcia.

17           MR. GARCIA:  -- the lack of effective

18 consultation under OCSLA?  It's a question to --

19           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Don't we -- do get to that

20 somewhere.

21           MR. GARCIA:  I don't know.  Is it here?

22           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Yeah, I think it's there.
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1           MS. ULMER:  Under science for decision

2 making.

3           MS. BEINECKE:  Yeah, but the science, when

4 you get there, is not yet completed, when it gets

5 there.  We haven't actually -- we don't have findings

6 yet which articulate that, but that is an issue we have

7 to address.

8           MS. ULMER:  Hold that thought.

9           MR. GARCIA:  Then I would ask that we

10 address it.

11           MS. MURRAY:  So actually to the point of the

12 regulatory coordination finding number 2 --

13           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Commissioner Murray.

14           MS. MURRAY:  -- it's not regulatory

15 coordination so much but the mission of each regulator

16 and expertise.

17           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Well, I think we got the

18 point.  I think we're going to have to consider how, in

19 fact, one might efficiently realign these

20 responsibilities, how one might allocate them, but the

21 current alignment just doesn't look satisfactory to

22 address the problem we have identified.
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1           MR. BOESCH:  There's got to be some

2 complexity to that because of other broader lines of

3 jurisdiction.  So for example, Coast Guard probably has

4 responsibility because Coast Guard has responsibilities

5 for maritime operations on vessels and that sort of

6 thing.  OSHA does, but it's a -- a mobile drilling

7 rig's a vessel.  Is a fixed platform a vessel?  Who has

8 the responsibility?  You know, I think we have to look

9 at that.

10           MS. MURRAY:  There are complexities.

11           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Anything further on that?

12 You're suggesting a break at this time?

13           MR. SMITH:  If we take a break now, we would

14 be on schedule to come back after the break.

15           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Everybody prepare to take a

16 break and come back to address group B when we return.

17 All right.  So let's take -- how much time?  Fifteen

18 minutes?

19           MR. SMITH:  Fifteen minutes.

20           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Fifteen minutes.

21           (A recess was taken)

22           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Okay.  Let's resume.  We
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1 will resume with discussion of group B findings 3, 4, 5

2 and 6, and Francis Beinecke will lead that

3 conversation.

4           MS. BEINECKE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  This

5 is the findings from the Committee on Regulatory

6 Oversight, and there are four findings in this area,

7 and I will read them and then we can discuss them.

8            So the first is on technology and

9 operational complexity.  The federal approach to

10 management and oversight of leasing and development of

11 offshore resources has not kept up with rapid changes

12 in technology, practices, and risks in different

13 geological and ocean environments.  The Safety Board

14 Report acknowledged the lack of ongoing training for

15 engineers and inspectors.  That's number 3.

16            Number 4 is under risk management.  MMS

17 failed to embrace a proactive risk management approach

18 to the oversight and regulation of offshore drilling.

19 Neither the MMS nor the industry had systems in place

20 to track and analyze offshore incident data for lagging

21 and leading indicators and trends.  The regulatory

22 review and approval process for exploration plans,
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1 permits for deep water wells and oil spill response did

2 not require adequate risk evaluation and management

3 planning.

4            Number 5 on oil spill planning:  MMS

5 approved Oil Spill Response Plans and MMS developed oil

6 spill risk analyses are integrated into the

7 environmental review and consultation process at all

8 stages of OCS oil and gas development.  Underestimation

9 of the worst case scenario for oil discharge in the

10 Gulf of Mexico oil spill risk analyses distorted the

11 estimations of potential environmental impacts in

12 subsequent environmental reviews.  The Oil Spill

13 Response Plans were also problematic because they were

14 included in some of the environmental reviews as a

15 mitigation measure to address the threat of oil

16 discharge.  Although the BP Oil Spill Response Plan for

17 the Gulf of Mexico met the MMS regulatory requirements

18 for such a plan, it lacked rigor and specificity.  The

19 approval process for these plans also lacks

20 transparency and fails to include either a process for

21 interagency consultations or public review.

22            The final one in this section is science for
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1 decision-making, number 6:  Although there is a

2 significant amount of scientific research that has been

3 conducted relevant to OCS oil and gas activities, there

4 is a need to continue strengthening and expanding this

5 science, as well as ensuring that it is relevant to

6 decision-making and environmental review of oil and gas

7 activities.  And attached to this finding is a note:

8 After ongoing staff research is completed, additional

9 findings regarding the NEPA process, Environmental

10 Studies Program and use of science in the OCS oil and

11 gas decision-making process will be proposed.

12            And just to begin the discussion, I think

13 here the subcommittee has been looking at both the

14 structure of MMS and the procedures that they follow

15 and the analysis they undertake in overseeing the

16 offshore oil and gas leasing program and making an

17 assessment of whether those are adequate under the

18 current challenges that the OCS program is facing

19 either in the deep water as we discussed earlier or

20 potentially in the Arctic where there is some interest.

21 So we've done a lot of analysis of what the current

22 systems are, and I think one thing for the Commission
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1 to evaluate is whether our findings are focused

2 specifically on how the agency was structured on April

3 20th and how it was operating or how to take into

4 consideration the changes that are currently being

5 undertaken and that would propose additional

6 recommendations for changes in the future, but it is a

7 moving platform of regulatory oversight.

8            So comments on any of these?

9           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Well, as far as item 3

10 goes, it seems to me we have had very extensive and

11 very persuasive evidence with respect to the breath-

12 taking advances in the technology of oil exploration

13 and development and repeated reminders that the

14 capability to contain and respond to spills as well as

15 even to regulate or understand some of those

16 technologies did not develop the pace.

17           MS. MURRAY:  Well, I would also point out

18 that it's important to have that kind of either reach-

19 back or, even better, that kind of expertise, for

20 example, cementing in the agency that's doing the

21 regulatory -- regulation.

22            In discussing these regimes with other
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1 nations, that is what has happened in the North Sea,

2 also what's going forward in Australia.  The expertise

3 action needs to be -- expertise and training needs to

4 be in the regulator.

5           MS. BEINECKE:  I'd say also on that that in

6 number 3 where the observation is the federal approach

7 has not kept up with rapid changes, so, you know, the

8 challenge is not only how you get to the point of where

9 the technology changes are, but you continue to have a

10 system that evolves and keeps abreast of where the

11 technology is going and how you incentivize that both

12 to keep the industry pressing ahead but also to ensure

13 that the regulator is on top of what those changes are

14 and equipped to deal with it.

15           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Those last comments were by

16 Commissioner Frances Beinecke, and I'd like to ask her

17 a question.  What would you say is an example of an

18 area of enterprise that has kept pace with rapid

19 changes in technology, practices and risk?

20           MS. BEINECKE:  Well, I am not sure that I'm

21 the best person to actually provide observations on

22 that.  I think earlier today when we heard from
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1 Professor Levinson she gave some examples of industries

2 that had kept up.  The aviation industry she identified

3 and, you know, where she's actually looked in great

4 detail.  This is one where she didn't think that would

5 happen.

6           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  It would suggest as we have

7 been using the nuclear power industry as a good example

8 of where an industry has come together collectively,

9 but it seems to me if we could find some examples of

10 industries, like commercial aviation could be a good

11 one, which have been able to keep up on the safety side

12 with the changes on the, on the actual delivery of

13 their service or activity side and why the difference

14 between the offshore oil and commercial aviation what

15 lessons can be learned from that.

16           MS. BEINECKE:  Mr. Chairman, I think that's a

17 good idea.  Also here I think to look at examples where

18 the regulator has kept up and not only in the industry;

19 here for a variety of resources, and we'll get to

20 findings in a moment on the lack of resources that

21 equipment to do that, that's a very important aspects

22 of it.  This is a very lucrative program to the federal

79

1 government.  It's an important program, and yet the

2 agency charged with providing oversight really didn't

3 have the capacity to undertake what the public

4 certainly expected them to be doing.

5           MR. GARCIA:  I wonder if the last sentence of

6 paragraph 3 actually is strong enough.  Based on my

7 reading of material --

8           MS. BEINECKE:  It's more than that.

9           MR. GARCIA:  Yeah.  It's not just ongoing

10 training, but it was a series like training, and there

11 was a lot of on-the-job training and then interns which

12 goes to your earlier point.  So I would, I'd expand on

13 that or just drop them.

14           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Well, what the interviews

15 disclosed was only on-the-job training.

16           MR. GARCIA:  Yeah.

17           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Which is extraordinary and

18 two or three days of it.  Okay.  Don?

19           MR. BOESCH:  If I could go to -- are we

20 taking these in order or do we --

21           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  We're still on 3.

22           MR. BOESCH:  Okay.  I'll hold on until we get
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1 to it.

2           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Okay.  Moving on from 3?

3 Moving on to 4, risk management.  Were you going to

4 comment on 4?

5           MR. BOESCH:  No.  I was going to comment on

6 5.

7           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Comment on 4?

8           MS. MURRAY:  I'll comment on 4.

9           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Proactive risk management.

10           MS. MURRAY:  Which is back after Three Mile

11 Island the nuclear power industry realized they had to

12 go into some more serious risk management and build up

13 the expertise and probabilistic risk analysis that I

14 would say there's no reason, though we've actually

15 heard some input from people including the Department

16 of Energy that this kind of thing could also happen in

17 this industry.

18            So I would ask what -- maybe I'll ask Chris,

19 our DOE government official, what can the Department of

20 Energy do to help MMS?  Could they have input on risk

21 assessment, for example?

22           MR. SMITH:  I'll field that question.
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1           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Please.  Give us a

2 different opinion if you would.

3           MR. SMITH:  Okay.  This is an issue that

4 Secretary Chu spoke to I think just back on the 22nd of

5 September when he had an engagement with Secretary

6 Salazar around a containment company which I think some

7 of you might have seen, and in those comments he

8 expressed that the true challenge is not fixing a

9 problem once it occurs.  He specifically said that the

10 way that you tackle accidents is you prevent them from

11 happening in the first place, and so there is a lot of

12 research that is done within DOE that has to deal with

13 not only fossil energy but also in other areas that are

14 relevant that we spoke about here today dealing with

15 nuclear, dealing with nuclear propulsion systems,

16 dealing with nuclear reactors.

17            So the issue we have with the deep water is

18 that when there is an incident, you are having to deal

19 with it remotely, and these are processes which have

20 lots of analogies in other areas.  So as we look at not

21 only how do we, you know, how do we deal with an

22 incident but also how do we quantify what the risks
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1 are?  And we look at technologies that was developed

2 for onshore applications.  Then there's the shallow

3 water to deep water, ultra deep.  These are the types

4 of projects that DOE manages not only in-house but

5 through its system of national laboratories.

6            So there is one laboratory that's devoted

7 specifically to fossil energy which is the National

8 Energy Technology Laboratory in West Virginia, but in

9 the response to this tragedy DOE has worked with all

10 the national laboratories, with San Diego, with Los

11 Alamos.  So there's a pretty deep set of research

12 capability which lies within the Department that could

13 be I think used effectively.

14           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Which was used pretty

15 effectively to determine flow rate and help determine

16 technology to manage the blowout.  This is Deputy

17 Assistant Secretary of Energy Chris Smith and our

18 official steward from the Department of Energy just

19 speaking.

20           MR. SMITH:  One other thing to mention that

21 the Secretary Chu didn't mention in his comments were

22 that as you develop this competency, obviously there
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1 was you saw some research and development that went on

2 in real time in response to shutting off this leak and

3 stopping it, but going forward the approach would be

4 that this is something that's starting and stopping,

5 starting and stopping, that there is the need to ensure

6 that this is something we maintain on an ongoing basis

7 and that's going to be part of the shift between

8 government and industry.

9           MS. MURRAY:  And I guess your point is that

10 the national labs can have a good role in this.  There

11 is a -- having come from a national lab, I shall say

12 for five years, the response to any kind of national

13 incident involves particularly around either radiation

14 or possibly a nuclear weapon incident has a national

15 lab response capability.  This could also be utilized

16 and since there are pretty effective response

17 capabilities and large numbers, I'll say hundreds, if

18 not thousands, of national lab scientists were brought

19 in to trying to figure out what to do about containment

20 of this spill.  Should that not be part of a response

21 plan?  I'll just throw out for the Commission to think

22 about.
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1           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  It's a very good point, and

2 one question that I had looking at what we were told

3 and presentations made to us in the hearings was

4 whether the Energy Department had been consulted really

5 at all in the major decisions affecting leasing and

6 response plans and giving plans a rest.  I gathered

7 from the testimony that they had not been, which you

8 may wish to comment on, Chris, but it surprised me.

9           MR. SMITH:  Right.  The DOE does comment on

10 say the five year leasing plan, you know, as it goes to

11 that process, but Department of Energy does not have a

12 regulatory responsibility in that process.

13           MS. ULMER:  I'd like to just note, I think

14 that speaks in part to the earlier point we discussed

15 about roles and responsibilities, consulting with and

16 perhaps getting more than just advice but actually

17 active engagement from those agencies that do have

18 relevant expertise to improve the system which kind of

19 goes back to possibly amending OCSLA.

20            The point I'd like to make on number 4, risk

21 management, is I think it's missing a sentence that is

22 important in terms of providing the context of what has
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1 been attempted in risk management that has not been

2 successful, and it is that for at least three

3 administrations, if I understand it correctly, there

4 have been regulations proposed to adopt SEMPS, the

5 Safety Environment Management Planning Systems, that

6 other countries require, and in all of those years in

7 which MMS proposed those regulations to increase safety

8 the industry objected and the regulations were not

9 adopted until last month or this month actually.

10            So I think in terms of explaining the

11 context of risk management to just suggest that MMS

12 hasn't done anything or the federal government hasn't

13 recognized that this is an important area we're

14 striking that balance between regulation and industry

15 as an important one.  I think we're not telling the

16 whole story if we don't explain that has been on the

17 table for over a decade.

18           MS. BEINECKE:  Good point.

19           MS. ULMER:  And it hasn't happened, and now

20 it finally has.

21           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Okay.  Anything further on

22 number 4?  Number 5, oil spill planning.
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1           MR. BOESCH:  Okay.  First of all --

2           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Mr. Boesch.

3           MR. BOESCH:  -- let me observe that this is

4 an area that we had a question by Commissioner Garcia

5 that we parked, and that involves agency, multi-agency

6 consultation.  So this is an area where these Oil Spill

7 Response Plans clearly merit further or meaningful

8 consultation with the agencies that will have to be

9 part of the response, be it Coast Guard, NOAA and a

10 variety of those agencies.

11            The second comment I'd like to make,

12 observation I'd like to make is it says here in the

13 second sentence underestimation of the worst case

14 scenario for oil discharge in the Gulf of Mexico risk

15 analysis distorted the estimation for potential

16 impacts.  What we learned from research by the staff

17 was that what we really meant here is not the volume of

18 flow of the oil but the probability that there would be

19 a disaster or a release, but then also the

20 underestimation of how long it would go on.  So that I

21 think is an important distinction because those are two

22 risks which were underestimated.  And then put into
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1 perhaps more elegant models to determine where the oil

2 might go and what the impacts may be which had no real

3 capability of predicting this, helping with this

4 particular scenario because the basic assumptions about

5 the probabilities were not there.

6            And think the other important bit of

7 information which I was actually quite surprised,

8 again, just like Commissioner Ulmer talked about, the

9 responsibility of government and responsibility of

10 industry is that apparently the Oil Spill Response

11 Plans that are to be prepared by the operator are filed

12 and only updated on two-year intervals, and so as a

13 result of that there was not specific response plan for

14 the well drilled at Mississippi Canyon 252 by BP

15 because they had an earlier response plan or more

16 generic response plan, and I think when we think about

17 this finding being translated to recommendations, we

18 might want to consider some recommendations along those

19 lines.

20           MS. BEINECKE:  Yeah.  I also think, although

21 this focuses specifically on the BP Oil Spill Response

22 Plan that response plan was typical of all response
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1 plans.  So, you know, in this instance we shouldn't

2 just target that specific plan because it's the entire

3 process and requirements for what the oil spill

4 response plans are generally.  So it seems to me that

5 finding should be a lot more general about system and

6 not solely targeted at BP.

7           MR. BOESCH:  I agree.

8           MS. MURRAY:  And to our earlier warning

9 discussion about tailored to the particular hazards of

10 each operating, you know, where it is, what you're

11 doing, the response plan has to be tailored; not a

12 generic one.

13           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Any comments on the last

14 sentence, fails to include either a process for

15 interagency consultations or public review?

16           MR. GARCIA:  Is that the case, or is it a

17 failure to include effective, process for effective

18 interagency consultations?

19           MS. BEINECKE:  There is no consultation.

20           MR. GARCIA:  None at all.

21           MS. BEINECKE:  None at all.

22           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  That's correct.
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1           MS. ULMER:  Another stunning absence of a

2 requirement that would allow the kind of careful

3 reflection and scrutiny that might improve the ability

4 not only for the response but for local people in a

5 state or local government jurisdiction to be able to

6 see how their efforts and responding to a spill might

7 match up with what the company claims it will do in its

8 oil spill response.  So it has lots of implications so

9 that there is no scrutiny and no public input required.

10           MS. BEINECKE:  So therefore no preparation.

11           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Little or no consultation

12 with the Coast Guard, right?

13           MS. ULMER:  Correct.

14           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Which is --

15           MS. ULMER:  Stunning.

16           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  -- hard to believe.

17           MR. GARCIA:  So then we have cases where

18 there is no consultation, but in those cases where

19 there is consultation we have found that that

20 consultation generally is ineffective.

21           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Mm-hmm.

22           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  In terms of influencing.
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1           MR. GARCIA:  In terms of influencing the

2 ultimate decision and incorporating suggestions by the

3 consulting agencies.

4           MR. BOESCH:  Yeah.  I think we've heard

5 examples on this and other areas where the consultation

6 is limited to receiving a letter from another agency

7 and said thank you very much and with no real response

8 back to the agency about how those recommendations were

9 incorporated into the final decisions or an explanation

10 of why they were not incorporated into them.  So I

11 think again when we form a recommendation we have to

12 keep this in mind.

13           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Incidentally, Fran, you

14 mentioned EPA.  I learned in the break the reason that

15 EPA was not included in the list of agencies where

16 we've said responsibilities have been divided among a

17 number of regulators as DOI, DOT, U.S. Coast Guard,

18 OSHA, is because EPA does not delegate its authority.

19 It has retained its authority, so that's why it's not

20 listed in one of those.  Senator Graham.

21           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Yes.  Going back to a

22 comment that Don made earlier.  Did you say, Don, there
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1 was a requirement that every two years these plans had

2 to be reviewed?

3           MR. BOESCH:  The response plans prepared by

4 the operator, BP in this particular case, but in the

5 generic case are filed generally for their operations

6 in the Gulf and are updated on two-year intervals, so

7 in fact they were --

8           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Excuse me.  That's updated

9 by BP?

10           MR. BOESCH:  By the company.

11           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  By the company.

12           MR. BOESCH:  By the company response plan and

13 the operator response plan, and so in fact their

14 response plan did not have any specific response

15 related to the well at Mississippi Canyon 252 and

16 anything to do with the specific geography, geological

17 risk and all those things associated with them.

18           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  But what is the policy of

19 MMS in terms of periodically evaluating whether the

20 operator is in a position to deliver on their

21 commitments of safety and response?

22           MR. BOESCH:  I think that's something we'd
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1 have to ask staff to help us on, advise us on.  That

2 raises a serious question.

3           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  From some of the testimony

4 that we have received I had the impression that there's

5 not much done, right?  We heard I think that while the

6 blowout preventer was supposed to be tested every X

7 period of time that it had been more than twice that

8 time before this particular one had been tested.

9           MR. BOESCH:  Right, yes, and also on the

10 issue of response plans we have heard from the research

11 the staff has done how these response plans which can

12 be very voluminous and have very perfunctory standard

13 materials grabbed from other sources; thus this is why

14 the walrus was mentioned in the response plan for BP in

15 the Gulf, that there's precious little staff time to

16 review these in any detail.  So there were questions

17 raised I think because of that evidence and from those

18 individuals in the agency about the adequacy of their

19 staffing capabilities as well as attention to the task

20 in reviewing those response plans.

21           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Other comments, questions

22 on number 5?  All right.  Number 6, science for
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1 decision-making.

2           MS. BEINECKE:  Mr. Chairman, let me just

3 again make a comment on this.  This is a fairly at this

4 point generic finding that we need more science, but

5 this will develop with much more specific findings I

6 think as we go through the review, more analysis of the

7 environmental review process and eco process and what

8 kind of science is invested in this.  So I don't think

9 this will be the final finding.  It's much too general.

10           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  I agree with that, and I

11 also believe that whatever we say with respect to

12 scientific needs as we make decisions about drilling

13 need to be very, very specific because I'm concerned

14 that simply saying we need more science is often used

15 as a way to simply defer decision-making on the leasing

16 and delay exploration which I think is a misuse of

17 science.

18           MR. BOESCH:  I think there are a number of

19 dimensions of this recommendation or this finding which

20 are under evaluation by the staff.  They include how

21 the science, scientific and engineering technical

22 research is conceived to fill or meet the needs, how

94

1 it's executed in terms of where it should be based

2 within government agencies and the like and then also

3 how it should be peer reviewed both in terms of the

4 details of individual projects that are ongoing to make

5 sure that they are of high quality and can stand the

6 test of decision-making process but also the review of

7 the whole program.

8            So again we've heard background information

9 from consultants and the staff about alternative models

10 for that review which would give it the independence to

11 provide an honest appraisal of the adequacy of the

12 science and the technology behind the program.

13           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  This is an area where it

14 seems to me it makes sense to delineate somewhat

15 between what industry should do with respect to

16 science.  We're aware that Shell has spent 30 million

17 dollars on science in the Arctic around the Chukchi and

18 what the government should do, and with respect to what

19 the government should do I would think that the

20 difficulty in getting enough resources to do an

21 adequate and thorough scientific job needs to be

22 addressed and the most obvious way to address it is by
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1 allocating a certain portion of leasing revenues to

2 this purpose, and it surprises me that that has been an

3 issue given how large those numbers are in the past.

4 It seems to me that a finding that there's not been a

5 specific budgeted item out of discretionary budgets

6 federal level needs to be confronted.

7           MR. BOESCH:  When Commissioner Ulmer and I

8 went down to New Orleans after our last meeting and

9 visited with the people in BOEM, if you recall, I think

10 it was Secretary Salazar who mentioned some significant

11 new budget resources that he wanted to provide and I

12 think he mentioned a hundred million.  We were told in

13 talking with the staff there were about 20 million of

14 that is supposed to be designated toward scientific

15 studies and research, environmental studies and the

16 like, and so that's a budget request and we'd make a

17 beginning on that, but I guess the question is then,

18 you know, in hindsight after seeing what happened with

19 this spill and all the questions about the

20 environmental effects and the fate of the oil and the

21 like what would be, how would we rethink the scientific

22 program to support decision-making in light of that,
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1 and I think this is a question we asked actually some

2 of the BOEM staff, and let's be honest, didn't get a

3 very thoughtful answer.  So I think we need to think of

4 that in the context of how that program should be

5 structured and located to make sure that it is forward

6 looking and is it independent, objective and asking the

7 hard right questions.

8           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  A possible finding might

9 include a review of the effectiveness of the monies

10 that were reserved out of the settlement for Prince

11 William Sound and the uses to which they were put and

12 the resulting knowledge that we otherwise would not

13 have.  Okay.

14           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Bill, my comment is again a

15 leads budget comment and --

16           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Well, we just made one.

17           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  -- and I would ask if staff

18 could review to evaluate this but my concern is that if

19 it's done out of the royalty payments, those payments

20 would normally go into the treasury and probably would

21 be subject to an appropriation to remove it from the

22 treasury.  That gets you into the problem of every year
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1 you have to take a battle to get your appropriation and

2 we're talking about the process that includes efficacy

3 in large part depends upon its predictability and

4 sustainability over time.

5            Having said that, there might be another

6 approach to this, and that would be to do this as part

7 of leasing process, that as companies secure leases

8 that there be some percentage of a lease amount go into

9 a separate fund for research and science.  That might

10 avoid having both the annual appropriation process.

11 I'm not sure I'm correct on that but some way to get

12 this out of the annual tussle appropriation would make

13 this a much more significant and reliable undertaking.

14           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  And at least for the Gulf

15 it could come out of the settlement as it did in Prince

16 William Sound I would think.

17           MS. BEINECKE:  For some period of time.

18           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Well, how has it worked in

19 Prince William Sound?

20           MS. ULMER:  There's still a hundred million

21 dollars left.

22           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  A hundred million dollars
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1 left.

2           MS. ULMER:  And it continues to generate

3 research.

4           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  And my understanding is

5 what we know about the state of wildlife impacts,

6 populations, fish and substrata oil deposits that are

7 still there we would not probably know but for that

8 fund.

9           MS. ULMER:  Absolutely.

10           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  And how does it keep going?

11           MS. ULMER:  So the trustee, the Exxon Valdez

12 trustee's counsel still manages the funding and still

13 makes decisions under a comprehensive science research

14 plan that was adopted years and years ago which they

15 followed, they update.  They have peer reviewed

16 assessments of whether or not the plan is still

17 appropriate and whether or not the specific studies

18 that support that overall objective in terms of not

19 only determining what the current species are and how,

20 what kind of impact has been but to the extent they can

21 looking at it in a certain holistic ecosystem way.  So

22 they do that, they continue to do that, and it has
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1 been, you're absolutely right, a model and something

2 that never would have been possible without the

3 resources.

4           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Is the current hundred

5 million a consequence of the reopener that Exxon --

6           MS. ULMER:  No.  It's still a continuing -- I

7 mean they've just sort of spent down.

8           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  But they will finally spend

9 it down?

10           MS. ULMER:  Well, eventually.

11           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  It will.  What rate is it

12 spent at?

13           MS. ULMER:  I can't say that but --

14           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Okay.  We can look into

15 that, but anyway, we like the principle.

16           MS. ULMER:  One other comment about science

17 for decision-making and just to follow up on your

18 earlier point about it's not just necessarily more

19 science.  It's how that the science that's being done

20 is synthesized and then integrated into the decision-

21 making process, which is another thing that I think was

22 on the table when we were talking about what kind of
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1 studies have been done, whether it's in the Gulf or in

2 the Arctic or anyplace else, it's not just the

3 quantity, it's not just the volume.  It's how those

4 questions support the decision-maker's choice that has

5 to be made at any particular point at the multi-step

6 process, and I don't know that we've done a

7 particularly good job of that.

8            I know that the Secretary of Interior has

9 asked USGS to assess the state of scientific research

10 in the Arctic to support decisions, and that report

11 from USGS is due next spring that looks at sort of

12 comprehensively what has been done in the Arctic and to

13 what extent are those the right questions to answer the

14 things that people actually have to make choices about.

15 So I think it's that piece that I hope that the staff

16 can help us as we get to this next level of detail to

17 say something meaningful about that because I think

18 it's sort of where the rubber meets the road.

19           MR. GARCIA:  And I think that as the staff

20 does this that it would be important that we keep in

21 mind that in deciding what science should be done you

22 need independent advice so that you don't wind up with
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1 a lot of pet projects by either the state or federal

2 government pushing, and we've seen that happen in other

3 cases, and so here's an opportunity to clearly

4 establish how that science is going to be conducted and

5 who's going to decide how it's done.

6           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  A really key consideration

7 that was very important in planning for the use of

8 money in the settlement in Prince William Sound and

9 quite elegantly dealt with according to the onsite

10 visits that we made in Alaska with peer reviewed

11 science that had to withstand a lot of scrutiny so that

12 pet projects and off-the-shelf ideas had to be

13 relevant.

14           MR. GARCIA:  But I think there were some pet

15 projects that did get pushed and had to be reviewed, so

16 you need to be visioned.

17           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Well, if there's a better

18 way to structure it, we ought to think about it.  Okay.

19 Anything further on that?  Okay.

20            Group C.  Political pressure:  This is

21 number 7.  The regulatory and inspection process has

22 been subject to political and industry pressure.  The
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1 industry has successfully sought Congressional

2 intervention to prevent implementation of MMS rule-

3 makings.  The time frames allowed for regulatory

4 approvals for complex operations are inadequate.  The

5 30-day requirement to approve exploration plans set by

6 statute to expedite operations has limited the

7 opportunity for critical technical review.

8            8.  Oversight and inspection:  The MMS

9 management systems and regulatory philosophy have

10 seriously lagged offshore peer regulators in not

11 requiring companies to have a documented safety and

12 environmental management system, a fundamental tool for

13 hazardous operations.

14            9.  Resources (Budget):  Inadequate budget

15 and management oversight by the Congress and successive

16 administrations have left MMS without the resources to

17 carry out its responsibilities.  The Secretary of the

18 Interior's appointed Safety Oversight Board reported a

19 serious lack of ongoing training and workforce

20 development.  Reliance on on-the-job training for

21 inspectors is inadequate and unacceptable for such high

22 risk, technical operations.
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1            10.  Transition:  The fundamental shift

2 necessary in the regulatory regime applicable to the

3 offshore oil and gas industry will require additional

4 resources and capacity, including staff hiring and

5 training.  In addition to the interim regulations

6 imposed in recent months, the agency will have to

7 propose for public comment a number of more

8 comprehensive changes, including policies and

9 procedures for third party certifications.  A

10 transition with adequate resources, specific benchmarks

11 and timetables will be necessary to ensure activities

12 are not unduly disrupted.

13            In the cases that we have studied in the

14 United Kingdom and Norway particularly after they

15 experienced catastrophes in their offshore oil and gas

16 industry, they moved to create a safety case to define

17 a series of expectations that were incumbent upon

18 industry to present a comprehensive plan to anticipate

19 risk to propose how they would be managed, and this was

20 subject to the consent, not necessarily the specific

21 involvement and approval, of the regulatory body.

22 There were also considerable prescriptive regulations

104

1 that were applied.

2          One of the major reforms that they underwent

3 was to separate revenue receipt and generation from the

4 regulation of safety and environmental performance.  We

5 have seen here with respect to the size of the revenues

6 and the preoccupation admittedly by the MMS directors

7 we've talked to an excessive concern with managing the

8 revenues and even we found inspectors actually review

9 production to keep track of whether revenue

10 expectations are being met.  The distraction from other

11 regulatory functions which in other cultures at least

12 in Norway and UK would be of concern to safety and

13 environmental protection.

14            We have found that industry has distorted

15 and impeded effective rulemaking, has prevented some

16 rulemakings from being made, has influenced budgetary

17 allocations by the Congress where certain plans'

18 reviews were to be undertaken that then became

19 impossible.  We uncovered in a case where a chief

20 engineer wanted to release data on injuries in the Gulf

21 and was stopped by head of offshore from doing that.

22 We've seen records that I find really shocking with
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1 respect to comparison of fatalities per hundred million

2 hours worked in Europe and the United Kingdom.  The

3 European number is 1.07 fatalities for 100 million

4 hours worked, and the US record is 4.84, almost five

5 times more.

6          OCS-related injuries have gone between in

7 recent years 300 and 450, a very substantial jump, by

8 the way, in 2006, an explanation which I don't have,

9 and OCS-related fires and explosions in the 1996 to

10 2009 period have ranged from 80 to 150, which I must

11 say I have no idea.

12            At any rate, so, the record is replete with

13 unrealistic risk assessments, a belief really that a

14 major blowout like this could not happen.  That was a

15 widespread belief, not just in industry but I think

16 throughout society, wholly inadequate preparations for

17 containment and also response when it did happen and a

18 regulatory agency staffed by people who were

19 undertrained, underfinanced, overworked, overmatched

20 and outgunned.

21            So that's the challenge that exists, and

22 it's a challenge I think with respect to some of those
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1 safety numbers, a challenge, a very strong challenge to

2 industry which given that it's a very sophisticated and

3 substantial industry can rise to I think and several

4 companies I believe have already risen to.  It's also a

5 challenge to government because we won't get the kind

6 of risk reduction we really want in some of those

7 numbers without strengthening both parts of the

8 enterprise and doing it with much more I think

9 professionalism and also separation of responsibilities

10 where incentives might be warped by the revenue

11 expectations.

12            Comments on number 7, political pressure?

13 That could be a lurid one.

14           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Well, I would comment that

15 in addition to Congressional intervention that we also

16 had some cases of executive intervention, thinking most

17 immediately about the Cheney task force that met in a

18 high degree of secrecy and apparently had a

19 considerable influence on decisions that were made

20 subsequently.  So I think that the politicalization of

21 this process is pervasive in both Executive and

22 Congressional ranges.
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1           MS. BEINECKE:  Mr. Chairman, I'm not going to

2 comment on these specifically, but it seems to me that

3 the Interior Department in this case managing the OCS

4 program is carrying out the public interest that the

5 offshore oil and gas is a public resource and they are

6 charged with managing that resource and providing

7 oversight to the industry as they're permitted to go

8 forth and develop it, and I actually think we should

9 have a finding on that issue which if you look at all

10 these they're kind of quite specific to, in the aspects

11 of the way it's been conducted, but I think that for

12 the report reflecting on what the responsibility of the

13 Interior Department is, the fact that it is a public

14 resource, that they are carrying out the public

15 interest and that our aim here is to assure that they

16 have the capacity to actually fulfill that

17 responsibility would be a good additional finding that

18 really isn't captured yet in the ones we've taken a

19 look at.

20           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  I think Chairman Graham

21 would have no problem with that.  That was a suggestion

22 made the last time.
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1           MS. BEINECKE:  Well, I made a comment on this

2 matter, but I just think we haven't captured that.

3           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Let's assume that's in

4 this.

5           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  I almost think that should

6 be some place other than in number 7.

7           MS. BEINECKE:  Yeah.  That's what I said.

8 I'm not actually commenting on these.  It's more a

9 generic comment.

10           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  You don't think it falls

11 under political pressure.

12           MS. BEINECKE:  It may be the very first

13 finding.  I think it should be perhaps.

14           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Yeah.  Good idea.  Okay.

15 Other comments?  Questions on that?  Number 8,

16 oversight and inspection.  Here we're talking about

17 primarily the ones we looked at in Norway and UK in

18 detail where the safety and environmental management

19 systems are considered a fundamental tool for hazardous

20 operations.

21           MR. GARCIA:  My understanding is it's not

22 just the serious lag, that we're one of the few major
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1 oil producing countries that does not have one of these

2 systems, and perhaps we need to make it clearer as well

3 as to provide the Commission some additional

4 information for the approach that Norway and the UK and

5 Australia and others have taken.

6           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Well, I think staff knows a

7 great deal about several of those anyway, so I don't

8 think that would be difficult.

9           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Since most of the companies

10 or at least the companies that represent by far the

11 largest segment of this industry operate in all these

12 countries, Australia, Norway, et cetera, have we heard

13 any blowback as to why the United States should be an

14 outlier in this area and why should we, based on their

15 experience in these other places, what's the rationale

16 for the United States not having similar systems?

17           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Well, you know, I've asked

18 that question.  For international industry that

19 operates in different jurisdictions, my principal

20 question at the beginning was BP has been subject both

21 to Norwegian and to UK safety management systems.  How

22 is it that their safety performance in the United
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1 States is different?  And we've been given to

2 understand that it is different, and people accommodate

3 to the regulatory system that they confront.

4            We even had some indication from some people

5 in industry that rig operators had to be retrained to

6 move from the Gulf to Canada because they were at least

7 by Canadian law considered to be paying adequate

8 attention to safety and the environment, strong

9 suggestions, in other words, that regulatory rigor was

10 less in the Gulf than elsewhere.

11           MR. GARCIA:  But I think it's fair to note

12 that at least in the UK and Norway that the changes to

13 their regulatory systems followed major disasters and

14 incidents, so they didn't just one day wake up and say,

15 hey, we're going to change our regulatory system.  It

16 took something quite catastrophic.

17           MR. BOESCH:  That's true for Canada as well.

18           MS. MURRAY:  Also true Australia.

19           MS. ULMER:  In some ways it's also true of

20 the United States.  If you look at changes that were

21 made in law after the Exxon Valdez disaster, that

22 prompted a considerable change in how we deal with
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1 tankers, and the safety records post those changes

2 shows that we made progress.  So I think that raises a

3 very important point for us as a nation:  Can incidents

4 like this give us the political backbone to achieve

5 some of the safety improvements that are necessary that

6 might catch us up with some of the other countries

7 frankly.

8           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  And not just the government

9 and law but the company.  Exxon reformed and became a

10 leader in the field.

11           MS. ULMER:  Yes.

12           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Okay.  On to 9, resources,

13 budget.

14           MS. MURRAY:  So here I would ask the same

15 question that you were talking about in terms of

16 funding science.  We learned that in Australia in

17 funding the regulator comes out of these so that

18 there's no year by year budget authority that has to be

19 negotiated.  So I just put out a question:  Should we

20 not have a strong regulator, and do we not have a good

21 source of funding for this?

22           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  I'm concerned the statement
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1 that follows the first sentence focuses immediately on

2 one aspect of the unfunded training and workforce

3 development accepting that those are very important

4 items.  Since this is titled budget, resources and

5 budget, it seems to me that maybe rather than focus on

6 one specific potential application of funds we ought to

7 focus on the issue that the Dean just talked about, and

8 that is a system that can be relied upon to provide

9 that funding over time with as little political

10 interference as democracy will allow.

11           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  This is a little tricky.

12 Where I find myself thinking that it's very unlikely

13 and certainly not something we could count on that

14 there will be adequate resources to do the job that

15 needs to be done to give us the inspectors who have

16 adequate resources in terms of formation, training,

17 expertise to understand all the things that so many of

18 them in interviews admitted they did not understand,

19 cementing, centralizes what the industry of course

20 knows, and this is where some kind of analogous entity

21 such as the nuclear industry has with IMPO I think

22 really comes into play, and it seems to me without it
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1 amply funded, amply funded by, as IMPO is, by the

2 industry itself with people who are every bit the match

3 for the people there are inspecting, regulating,

4 overseeing, and who are trusted by them because of

5 their expertise, one would hope, but who are serious

6 professionals who can amplify and support the

7 regulatory process by informing about and monitoring

8 for best practice.

9           MS. MURRAY:  I completely agree, but I'd also

10 point out that there is the Nuclear Regulatory

11 Commission as well as IMPO and that you need to balance

12 industry and federal regulators.

13           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Well, no one would

14 recommend dis-establishing.  We'd like to see the

15 regulator better compensated and better budgeted for,

16 but I just tend to doubt that we're going to see enough

17 support for federal employees, that a lot of them

18 aren't going to be informed about some of these

19 specialized disciplines.

20           MS. MURRAY:  What you're talking about is

21 something like peer certification which I think is an

22 excellent thing.
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1           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  I would suggest, Bill, that

2 rather than try to squeeze that concept in to 9, you

3 ought to have a new, an additional finding on the

4 specific topic of industry collaboration.

5           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Mm-hmm, with the example of

6 an IMPO.

7           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Yeah.

8           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Agreed.

9           MR. BOESCH:  If this broader concept of

10 revenues which was sufficient and reliable and that

11 that would involve some dedication of revenue stream,

12 it would be good if staff could do some research on

13 this.  It's nice to have examples of Australia, but if

14 we had some in the US government where there was sort

15 of a system set up where there was some portion of the

16 revenues were dedicated by law for this purpose, it

17 would be good to help craft the recommendation on this.

18           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  I keep just looking ahead

19 to the budget process and to the financial situation

20 the country is in and worry that memories are short,

21 and as time goes on it will be more difficult to get

22 resources for this purpose, and if there's any way that
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1 we could do what you suggest and to have the monies

2 come targeted directly from the revenues themselves

3 given that they are substantial, that would really be

4 much preferable.

5           MS. MURRAY:  Well, I would argue that it is

6 cheaper to do things safely than it is not to.  If you

7 look at the expenditure that will be needed over the

8 next 30 years because of this or the expenditure that

9 Exxon had to deal with because of all that spill, it is

10 much cheaper to have an IMPO-like entity that's

11 spending money on how to contain these spills quickly

12 and how to be actually, have a safety culture, than it

13 is to respond to something like this which will

14 inevitably happen because this intrinsically happens.

15           MS. ULMER:  Bill, perhaps we could ask a

16 question of staff about this funding option, either now

17 or later, the cents per barrel tax that goes into the

18 Oil Spill Fund.  I can't really remember if that's an

19 automatic trigger or if that actually requires

20 appropriation after the money is in the fund because

21 it's another way of thinking about institutionalizing a

22 source of revenue to do what needs to be done to avoid
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1 oil spills, to have the safety that everybody expects

2 and wants.  So just flag that as another perhaps

3 mechanism.

4           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Okay.  We'll take up 10.

5 Transition.  I looked at this first when we first began

6 to discuss transition, and I think I understand the

7 need for it and it's realistic to expect that a lot of

8 the changes we're recommending will not happen

9 overnight, but I want to avoid giving the impression

10 that there's no sense of urgency here.  There is.  So

11 somehow we need to balance it, and I hope this language

12 does that.

13           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  I would suggest that rather

14 than use the phrase "the fundamental shift necessary in

15 the regulatory regime" which requires the reader to

16 have a significant amount of knowledge to give any

17 meaning to that set of words that we say in concise

18 language what is the shift?  Well, what do we think are

19 the fundamental characteristics that will distinguish

20 the post transition from today?

21           MS. BEINECKE:  I agree with that,

22 Mr. Chairman.  I think actually this should be a
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1 recommendation for what the transition should be rather

2 than a finding.  It's not really a finding.  I think we

3 ought to change the formulation of it to a transition

4 needs to be developed within a particular timetable and

5 targets so by such and such a time you can accomplish

6 that.

7           MR. BOESCH:  As a recommendation.

8           MS. BEINECKE:  As a recommendation rather

9 than finding.

10           MR. BOESCH:  Also related to that, in this

11 particular area we have a lot of moving parts going on.

12 We have the reorganization which has been proposed by

13 the Interior and EOM.  Particularly we have what the

14 agency is going to do now that the moratorium has been

15 lifted due to the staff to deal with the permitting,

16 how effectively that functions.  Of course we have

17 Congress which has at least one house has passed some

18 restructure and readying.  Whether they come back and

19 deal with this in the lame duck session, maybe Senator

20 Graham could help us understand, but we should be

21 nimble and prepared to before we complete our report

22 look at the state of play and make appropriate comments
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1 and recommendations on where things are headed.

2           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  I'd also suggest that staff

3 look into doing on this issue what we did this morning.

4 It's very, very capable scholars who thought seriously

5 about this issue.  There certainly are people who

6 talked about who spend their life thinking about

7 organizational structures, and we could find one of the

8 policy elements of those that we had this morning to

9 talk to us about this because I think we're going to

10 want to make some recommendations on how this whole

11 regime should be restructured to avoid what's happened

12 and to face future challenges.

13           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Further comments?

14 Questions?  Well, I think we're just about done then

15 for today.  I guess I would -- so the public comment

16 would be at 4:00, in ten minutes or so.

17           MS. ULMER:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder if we

18 might take just a moment to consult with staff about

19 what they have heard in terms of this discussion that

20 might require either additional clarification or

21 something that might be helpful to them as they go to

22 the next step, and not that they necessarily have any
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1 questions, but if they do, that something that would

2 benefit from additional discussion by the Commission.

3           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Anything we say that's

4 completely crazy?

5           MS. NEFF:  Maybe I could just tell you a

6 little bit more about what we are doing when looking at

7 the international regulator.  We had a meeting, series

8 of meetings we went over with them when they were in

9 town for a meeting at the request of the Norwegian

10 chief regulator.  We've had interactions with them

11 since then and we've provided a draft paper to MOB;

12 going to their international conference next week and

13 have scheduled additional time to talk to all of them

14 to get much more clarification on a number of these

15 issues that you raised, and we hope to have the

16 Norwegian regulator here the next time you are in town

17 so that you can meet with him as sort of the senior

18 person in the peer group.  He's been in that role for

19 some years and he can relate the experience from Norway

20 and the efforts that are underway to raise the bar

21 internationally on the regulator.

22            So I apologize that we haven't had more
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1 specific information for you, but I think accuracy is

2 important, and all of these countries have different

3 political systems, different regulatory structures.

4 You know, it's just we want to be sure that we're

5 giving you the best information we can, and as

6 Commissioner Murray has mentioned with the Australians,

7 we had a conference call with their energy

8 administration just the other day because they are just

9 now moving forward on the findings from the Montara

10 blowout from last year, so we will have more

11 information for you on that.

12            On the issue of revenue options and

13 possibilities, there are a number of different things

14 that we will be laying on the table for you, both the

15 way other regulators do this, the way we do it within

16 the United States and also some insight into what is

17 possible under the way the budget act works and how

18 there might be some transitions there and ways to

19 ensure that funds are separated and made available for

20 these explicit purposes, and there are a number of

21 different possibilities and we'll have a detailed memo

22 for you on that before you get to the point of making
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1 recommendations.

2           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  Today we've been talking

3 about this revenue in the context of funding the safety

4 responsibilities of these agencies.  We're going to

5 have an even bigger issue when we start talking about

6 response and restoration, and so as you're looking at

7 the revenue issues for today's agenda, I would urge you

8 also to be thinking about what are going to be our

9 revenue budget options for the restoration question.

10           MS. NEFF:  The oil spill fund and the oil

11 spill fee has been targeted as a funding source.  The

12 House has proposed or has actually passed legislation

13 that would raise that fee.  This whole consideration is

14 in various stages, so I think those are -- they're all

15 part of the same.  It's not just the science and the

16 regulatory oversight but the other issues that come

17 into this.  So there are different mechanisms out

18 there, and we'll look at how they can apply, how they

19 do apply and how they might apply.

20           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Okay.  Well, I would just

21 like to step back a little bit from conversations that

22 we've been having and say that I think that given that
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1 we are formed in the shadow of a disaster and very

2 concerned to try to make sure it doesn't happen again

3 that we are necessarily focusing on a lot of problems

4 and probably sounding more negative than some of us

5 might wish to sound, and I would simply say that I

6 found it interesting in the presentation this morning

7 that in 1955, 20 percent of Americans were willing to

8 fly on airplanes and 80 percent indicated they were

9 not, and the aviation industry and manufacturer of the

10 aircraft all got together to make it a very safe

11 proposition relatively, and I think these challenges

12 can be addressed, the ones that we confront, and have

13 been in other industries.  Typically they have been as

14 we were reminded with respect to tanker safety as a

15 result of some of the reforms that were enacted in law

16 after the Exxon Valdez in Prince William Sound.  There

17 are fewer tanker accidents now, and we are dealing with

18 a very sophisticated industry and a really very vital

19 industry, vital to the country and vital to regions

20 particularly where it's the most active and operating,

21 and companies I think can reform themselves and some

22 probably don't even have to because I've been on
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1 several rigs in the North Sea, the Gulf, and we were

2 slated to go out on the South China Sea last year and

3 weather prevented that, but have seen very exemplary

4 practices, so they are in the industry and they

5 certainly are in the regulatory apparatus itself, in

6 the government.  We know that there are capable people

7 there and very dedicated people too.

8            So to the extent that we have in any way and

9 we've necessarily been concerned with trying to correct

10 for inadequacies, problems and challenges, to the

11 extent that we have done that, I would just for my own

12 part like to make clear that I think one needs to keep

13 the perspective on all of this and recognize that we're

14 really here because we think these problems can be

15 solved and we think the industry can solve its

16 challenges and the government can solve its, and we're

17 going to recommend how.

18            Do you have any final comments, Bob?

19           CO-CHAIR GRAHAM:  I will second your

20 thoughts.

21           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  So now we're going to get

22 public comment.  That's five minutes away?  I think
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1 we'll take a break until --

2           MR. SMITH:  It will be at 4:15 to 4:45.

3           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  I thought it was 4:00.

4 Okay.  We will take a break until 4:15, and we will

5 come back and hear as I understand two comments.

6           MR. SMITH:  Just two.

7           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Okay.  Thank you.  All

8 right, folks.

9           (A recess was taken)

10           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Nice to see you again.

11           MR. GUSTAFSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

12           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Welcome back.  You have

13 three minutes, and you are the only commenter, and

14 Co-Chairman Graham had to catch an airplane.

15           MR. GUSTAFSON:  I think what I'm going to do

16 is I'm going to submit via e-mail for the public record

17 my testimony and then I'll just try to --

18           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  We welcome it, and other

19 comments, by the way, are welcome from the public

20 through the website.

21           MR. GUSTAFSON:  Well, thank you for giving me

22 the opportunity to say something today.  You're already
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1 very familiar with the issues that are involved.

2           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Would you announce

3 yourself.

4           MR. GUSTAFSON:  Oh, yes.  I'm John Gustafson.

5 I'm the retired Executive Director of the National

6 Response Team and was involved with the development of

7 the Exxon Valdez report as an investigator and now as

8 an analyst.

9            You're already familiar with the issues that

10 are involved with this spill.  My remarks today are

11 really going to focus on operational matters, specific

12 things that might be done to improve preparedness,

13 prevention response.  Of course I'm speaking for myself

14 as a member of the public.

15            I believe that this area might become one of

16 the areas that could be a finding:  That of improving

17 public understanding and improving intergovernmental

18 coordination as well as intergovernmental

19 collaboration.  This was mentioned earlier by me by the

20 suggestion that perhaps a focus on prevention could be

21 made by some interagency committee.  Currently the

22 interagency activities that take place include
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1 preparedness and response, but there's not a specific

2 function going to prevention.

3            Now, what I mean by that is perhaps the NRT,

4 the National Response Team, could carry on that

5 function or some other interagency group.  There's an

6 article in this last month's Government Executive

7 magazine that identifies the importance of

8 collaboration among agencies and public servants in

9 order to handle and address some of the costs that are

10 involved with the budget cuts that are going to be

11 made.

12            Two, web-based training tools should be

13 considered as a way to provide training and better

14 understanding for the NCP.  It's been testified before

15 this Commission that a number of individuals especially

16 from local government and in the public and elsewhere

17 don't understand how the NCP works.  It would be a

18 simple proposition to develop web-based training tools

19 that could go out and I think there are examples of

20 this that could be provided to the Commission.

21            Three, there's also confusion about the

22 application and the roles and responsibilities of the
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1 on-scene coordinator, responsible party, et cetera,

2 that are identified in the NCP.  In the case of the on-

3 scene coordinator this can actually lead to a case

4 where local government officials feel that they have

5 the responsibility under home rule to be able to direct

6 federal assets.  Now, this extreme occurred in the

7 1990s, and as the result of this there was a special

8 agreement that had to be worked out between the federal

9 agencies and the state and local governments.  This may

10 need to be done in extreme cases where local

11 governments, especially those with home rule, feel that

12 they don't have to comply with federal responsibilities

13 for safety, handling of public funds and perhaps also

14 assume that they have the authority to direct federal

15 assets.

16           MR. SMITH:  Sir, there are some provisions

17 here.  If you could start to wrap it up.

18           MR. GUSTAFSON:  Okay.  We'll start to wrap it

19 up by saying a small half day command and control

20 exercise should be a mechanism that's looked at rather

21 than these long-term exercises that are being done now

22 for spills of national significance that would build a
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1 better understanding.  I suggest the exploration of a

2 computer-aided management for emergency operations

3 interactive mechanism software that is used by 4,000

4 fire departments around the United States as a way to

5 improve the work that's done in the field, and I feel

6 it should be encouraged to continue its emphasis on the

7 implementation of the Incident Command System under

8 Presidential directive number five, but changes may

9 need to be made to bring in local government into that

10 mechanism.

11            California you said had a way of dealing

12 with that by establishing what was called a multi-

13 agency committee, a MAC, that was composed of local

14 governments that fed information into the ICS mechanism

15 during the response.

16            I'll elaborate on these suggestions.  I

17 appreciate the opportunity for three minutes and hope

18 to be able to be of any additional help that you think

19 may be.

20           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  Thank you, Mr. Gustafson.

21 I just read about that California institution

22 yesterday.  Thank you very much.  I look forward to
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1 your submission.

2           MR. GUSTAFSON:  Thank you.

3           CO-CHAIR REILLY:  We have no other public

4 commenters, and so this meeting of the Offshore Oil

5 Commission is adjourned.

6           (Whereupon, the proceedings were adjourned at

7 4:20 p.m.)
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